

Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

Theses and Dissertations

2021-08-03

Effects of Parent-Implemented Interventions on Outcomes for Children With Autism: A Meta-Analysis

Wai Man Cheng Brigham Young University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd

Part of the Education Commons

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Cheng, Wai Man, "Effects of Parent-Implemented Interventions on Outcomes for Children With Autism: A Meta-Analysis" (2021). *Theses and Dissertations*. 9682. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/9682

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact ellen_amatangelo@byu.edu.

Effects of Parent-Implemented Interventions on Outcomes for

Children With Autism: A Meta-Analysis

Wai Man Cheng

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Timothy Smith, Chair Tina Taylor Byran Korth

Department of Counseling Psychology and Special Education

Brigham Young University

Copyright © 2021 Wai Man Cheng

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Effects of Parent-Implemented Interventions on Outcomes for Children With Autism: A Meta-Analysis

Wai Man Cheng Department of Counseling Psychology and Special Education, BYU Master of Science

Parent-implemented interventions (PIIs) can be useful in promoting parents' knowledge of autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and in transferring necessary skills to children with ASD. Individuals with ASD can directly and indirectly benefit from PIIs in terms of academics, ASD symptom severity, behavior improvement, cognition, communication, and social skills. Many studies have explored the efficacy of PIIs; however, they have tended to report mixed effects. Previous meta-analyses and systematic reviews have been characterized by limited search terms and literature search procedures, emphases on published manuscripts, dependency on parent reports, dated findings, and comparisons across of different types of control groups. This study attempts to improve on the methodology of prior meta-analyses and to update findings of the effectiveness of PIIs for children and youth with ASD. We located 1925 studies at initial manuscript search in 9 databases. After additional search from other sources, 43 studies met the inclusion criteria. Studies with same participants were merged that yield 40 records for final data coding. Eligible studies coded in Dyches et al.'s meta-analysis (2018) combined with current data resulted in 53 randomized controlled trials for data analysis. The random effects model meta-analysis found a moderate and statistically significant effect (g = 0.55, 95% CI 0.35 to 0.65, p < 0.00001) on overall weighted effect size across 53 studies included. PIIs can improve child outcomes in positive behavior/social skill (g = 0.603), maladaptive behavior (g = 0.519), adaptive behavior/life skills (g = 0.239), and language/communication (g = 0.545). These findings are inconclusive and should be interpreted with caution, especially adaptive behavior/life skill because only six studies reported outcomes on that variable. No moderating variables were identified in post hoc random effects weighted analyses. Implications for future research are discussed.

Keywords: parent-implemented intervention, program implementation, autism, meta-analysis, randomized control trials

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I would like to thank the David O. McKay School of Education (MSE) grant for sponsoring my research project. I would also like to thank my thesis committees, especially Dr. Timothy Smith, for his genuine support, invaluable supervision, and insightful feedback throughout my master's degree. Next, I would like to express gratitude to my research team and beloved colleagues for a beautiful time spent together: Marshall Butler, Devan Clayton, Bailee Stones, Abena Yirenya-Tawiah, Logan Garr, Kyujin Cho, Josh Marshall, and Megan Wolfe. Lastly, I would like to thank my family and friends for their encouragement and love through my studies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGEi
ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSiii
TABLE OF CONTENTSiv
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURESviii
DESCRIPTION OF THESIS STRUCTURE AND CONTENTix
Introduction1
Method3
Manuscript Search4
Inclusion Criteria and Screening5
Coding Data5
Computation of Effect Size Estimates6
Risk of Bias and Publication Bias7
Statistical Analyses7
Results
Study Selection
Descriptive Characteristics of Participants and Interventions
Omnibus Analysis11
Subgroup Analyses by Child Outcome11
Tests for Publication Bias12
Moderation Effects of Participant and Intervention Characteristics12

Discussion	13
Effectiveness in Treating Austism Spectrum Disorder	
Moderators of Treatment Effectiveness	14
Comparison With Dyches et al.'s Meta-Analysis	15
Comparison With Previous Meta-Analyses and Systematic Reviews	16
Limitations	
Conclusion	
References	
Tables	40
Figures	
APPENDIX: Review of the Literature	
Interventions for Individuals With Autism Spectrum Disorder	
Positive Behavior or Social Skills	
Maladaptive Behaviors	
Adaptive Behaviors or Life Skills	
Language or Communication	
The Taxonomy of Parent Training (PT) for Austism Spectrum Disorder	
Parent Support	
Care Coordination	
Psychoeducation	
Parent-Implemented Interventions (PIIs)	
Parent-Implemented Interventions for Core Symptoms	
Parent-Implemented Interventions for Maladaptive Behaviors	

Previous Systematic Reviews or Meta-Analyses Related to Parent-Implemented	1
Interventions	60
Dyches et al. (2018)	60
Black & Therrien (2018)	60
Nevill et al. (2016)	61
Postorino et al. (2017)	61
Tarver et al. (2019)	61
References	63

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Search Strings Examples Used in Final Manuscript Search	40
Table 2	Overview of 54 Studies Included	41

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	PRISMA Chart of Included Studies	46
Figure 2	Forest Plot of Effect Size and 95% Confidence Interval of 54 Studies	47
Figure 3	Contour-Enhanced Funnel Plot of 54 Studies Included	48

DESCRIPTION OF THESIS STRUCTURE AND CONTENT

This thesis, Effects of Parent-Implemented Interventions on Outcomes for

Children With Autism: A Meta-Analysis, follows a hybrid, or "journal-ready" format. This format combines traditional thesis requirements with journal publication formats.

The preliminary pages reflect requirements for submission to Brigham Young University. The thesis report is presented as a journal article and conforms to length and style requirements for submitting research manuscripts to journals in the field of education and family studies.

The literature review is included in an appendix. This thesis format contains two reference lists. The first reference list contains references included in the journal-ready article. The second list includes all citations found in the appendix.

Introduction

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by deficits in "social communication and social interaction across multiple contexts, and restricted, repetitive patterns of behavior, interests, or activities" (American Psychiatric Association, 2013, p. 50). The term *spectrum* refers to the wide range of disability levels in functioning (from low to high functioning), skills, and symptoms. Individuals with ASD may engage in a range of problem behaviors, including impulsivity, hyperactivity, aggression, noncompliance with tasks and demands, self-injury, and/or tantrums (Lecavalier, 2006). These behaviors lead to potential issues in academic performance, skills acquisition, parental mental health, and quality of life (Dabrowska & Pisula, 2010; Williams et al., 2006). Males tend to have a higher prevalence than females, approximately four times higher (Sandbank et al., 2020), and symptoms may appear in children as young as the first year of life (Tanner & Dounavi, 2020).

To facilitate optimal developmental outcomes in cognition, adaptive behaviors, and communication, researchers suggest targeting the earliest noticeable symptoms of ASD (e.g., Koegel et al., 2014; Nahmias et al., 2019; Reichow, 2011; Sandbank et al., 2020; Warren et al., 2011). These interventions tend to be intensive (e.g., 25-40 hours per week, one-to-one adult to child ratio, for over a year or longer). However, obtaining intensive intervention for children with ASD can prove challenging for many parents due to costs, limitations of time, travel distance, access to appropriate services, time on waitlists, and insurance coverage (Buescher et al., 2014; Nevill et al., 2016; Symon, 2001). Recognition of the struggles and limitations of the families with children with ASD are facing, the interests in looking for alternatives to offset these obstacles have increased among researchers (Cidav et al., 2017; Hatcher & Page, 2020; Lee et al., 2018; Meadan et al., 2016).

Numerous studies have been conducted on the effects of PIIs on the outcomes of children with various developmental disabilities (DD) in children. Prior meta-analyses have typically reported mild effects of using PIIs in promoting the development of children and youth with DD (Nevil et al., 2016). Nevertheless, the results are variable; some individual studies indicate that PIIs have positive child outcomes, while others have suggested the opposite. Scholars had supported PIIs as a ASD evidence-based practice (EBP) in recent research (Dawson-Squibb et al., 2020; Steinbrenner et al., 2020). Two manualized interventions, Project ImPACT (Ingersoll & Dvortcsak, 2019) and Stepping Stone/Triple P (Turner et al., 2010), fall into this category (Steinbrenner et al., 2020). Even though these two interventions were classified as EBP, there are not enough details to make conclusions regarding the potency of PIIs. Therefore, there is a need for additional information to understand under what circumstances PIIs are effective or less effective than professional interventions for children with ASD.

A few methodological limitations have characterized prior meta-analytic reviews of child outcomes following PIIs. First, previous results have often been based on parent-report measures, but parents' ratings may bias study findings. It is necessary to compare parent ratings with teachers' or interventionists' ratings to have a more objective conclusion on PIIs' effectiveness. Second, studies included in these meta-analyses use different types of control groups, with some using waitlist control groups and other studies using active controls or treatment equivalent control groups. These differences should be evaluated with an updated meta-analytic review. Third, some previous meta-analyses' findings have been based on limited sources due to incomplete search terms and the inclusion of only published articles. Fourth, some prior meta-analyses have included single group designs and quasi-experimental designs that may be susceptible to research bias. Hence, this study carried out an updated meta-analytic review of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) using comprehensive search terms to obtain up-to-date research findings specific to ASD that go beyond prior meta-analyses.

Based upon the trends in the extant literature, this study aims to answer the following questions:

- 1. To what extent are Parent-Implemented Interventions effective in treating ASD?
- To what extent do study characteristics (e.g., control group, source of data), intervention characteristics (e.g., number of sessions), and participant characteristics (e.g., age, gender) moderate the effectiveness of PIIs?

Method

This meta-analysis is an update of the previous meta-analysis published in 2018 (Dyches et al.). Dyches et al.'s meta-analysis focus on PIIs for children with various developmental disabilities, including ASD. Since this meta-analysis focuses on children diagnosed with ASD, autism, Asperger Disorder, or Pervasive Developmental Disorder – Not Otherwise Specified (PDD-NOS), previously coded studies were screened based on the inclusion criteria of the current meta-analysis. The effect sizes of the eligible previously coded studies were re-evaluated to ensure accuracy. Studies coded in the following previously published meta-analyses were also located: Aldred et al. (2004), Carter et al. (2011), Frankel et al. (2010), Jocelyn et al. (1998), Kasari et al. (2010), Roberts et al. (2011), Sofronoff et al. (2004), Sofronoff et al. (2007), Solomon et al. (2008), and Wong and Kwan (2010). Data from those meta-analyses and the Dyches et al. meta-analysis were merged with the current data set for a complete analysis of the PIIs of children with ASD.

Manuscript Search

We conducted substantial manuscript searches to acquire published and unpublished studies (i.e., journal articles, conference posters, presentations, book chapters, doctoral dissertations, and master's theses) of interventions involving parents as interventionists for children with ASD. We searched in nine electronic databases for studies written in English between 2012-2020: Academic Search Premier, Education Resources Information Center (ERIC), Excerpta Medica Academic Search Premier, Education Resources Information Center (ERIC), Excerpta Medica database (EMBASE), Medline, American Psychological Association PsychINFO, Social Sciences Abstracts, and Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL). Additional searches were conducted by examining the reference lists by the authors of the identified studies. The final search was completed on June 3, 2020. For each search, we sought manuscripts that include all three primary concepts of interest.

The three primary concepts of interest to this review apprised the inclusion criteria: (a) interventions provided by parents or caregivers of (b) children diagnosed with ASD, autism, Asperger Disorder, or PDD-NOS who were under 18-years-old, which resulted in (c) functional and measurable outcomes, regardless of the location of delivery (e.g., home, clinic, school), or other aspects of the intervention (e.g., extent of training, duration, and intensity of intervention). These criteria align with the criteria established in Dyches et al.'s meta-analysis (2018). Our search strings comprise synonym lists that are separated by the Boolean "or" operator and all word alternatives were identified by the word stems. To further narrow the hits to studies using RCTs, we included relevant search strings to limit the scope of the search. We also developed search strings that tailored to fit the searching mechanism of each database and pilot tested them to revamp the accuracy of our search. Some corresponding search strings examples used in

locating studies for this meta-analysis are shown in Table 1. To ensure we captured as many studies as possible, we searched the electronic databases twice. All located studies were uploaded to Covidence Systematic Review software, a web-based tool, for screening (SaaS Enterprise, 2014).

Inclusion Criteria and Screening

The screening procedure included three stages: (a) Covidence removed duplicate studies, (b) title and abstract screening, team members excluded duplicate studies that did not catch by Covidence, and (c) full-text review and merged studies with the same participants. All studies located were screened twice during the initial screening and full-text review on Covidence. The first and second authors made final decisions for any discrepancies in the screening stage. We sought studies involving experimental designs (RCTs). Therefore, we excluded case studies, qualitative research studies, quasi-experimental designs, and single-subject designs. Furthermore, we excluded studies with interventions that used medication as the only form of treatment, children who were at-risk with ASD who had not been clinically diagnosed, unknown parent participation in the intervention, parents who did not demonstrate actual implementation of the training received, studies that compared the same intervention program which was delivered in different modes, studies which only reported an ASD screener or diagnostic composite score as the only codable effect size without subscale scores provided, and studies in which no actual parent-child interactions.

Coding Data

Teams of two members each were trained for data coding. A codebook with all study variables definition was used to ensure consistency across coders. Each article was coded twice by separate teams, with the second coding team assessing the first team's data for purposes of verification and correction of inaccuracies on Covidence Systematic Review software. If discrepancies occurred, coding teams met to resolve the disagreement by further investigating the manuscript to reach a consensus. Coders extracted independent and identifiable characteristics from each study, including (a) number of child participants and their mean age, gender; (b) caregiver evaluated for the effect size and who provided the intervention; (c) type, and dosage of the intervention provided; (d) comparison group type and measurement type; (e) baseline difference and intervention effectiveness; (f) participants' allocation, allocation concealment; and (g) effect size calculated using statistics provided within the manuscript.

Computation of Effect Size Estimates

All effect size data were coded in the metric of Cohen's *d*. Since several different statistics (analyses of variance [ANOVAs], *t*-tests, *f*-tests, Mann–Whitney *U* test, standardized correlation coefficient, means and standard deviations, and *p*-values) may be found among the studies included in this meta-analysis, the statistics reported were initially converted into the metric of Cohen's *d* using the Meta-Analysis Calculator software (Wilson, 2021). Given the low number of participants in several studies, we subsequently converted all effect sizes to Hedge's *g* values to reduce possible small-study bias when comparing data across studies. Where analyses were reported as statistically significant with no statistic provided; the corresponding alpha level determines the *d* value (assuming two-tailed alpha = .05 unless noted otherwise). Effect size d = 0 was set for analyses that report non-significant results with no additional information. These procedures yield conservative effect size estimates. The direction of all effect sizes was coded uniformly. Positive values indicate a comparatively more significant benefit to child outcomes as a function of the intervention provided. Negative values indicate a relatively deleterious effect upon the child due to the parenting intervention relative to the control group.

Risk of Bias and Publication Bias

The coding sheet includes variables for evaluating the risk of bias of each article in the following areas: (a) awareness of participant allocation, and (b) allocation concealment, and (c) outcome evaluation by individuals blind to the treatment group. Since blinding parents or caregivers to intervention status is impossible in parent training (PT), studies were evaluated as low risk of bias if they included these three methods.

The direction and statistical significance of the results impact the publication of studies that may introduce publication bias (Van Aert et al., 2019). Publication bias can lead to overestimation of effect sizes and underestimation of false-positive results. To evaluate possible publication bias, we conducted multiple methods, including the Egger regression test (Egger et al., 1997), trim and fill analysis, and funnel plot analysis to detect possible asymmetry within the studies.

Statistical Analyses

We used IBM® SPSS® Statistics (Version 27.0) and STATA (Version 16.0) to analyze the data. The pooled effect size was examined by using a random effects model meta-analysis. To assess the heterogeneity of the pooled effect size, we obtained the tau-squared (τ^2) statistic, Isquared (I^2) statistic, and Cochran's Q(Q). τ^2 indicates the variance of the effects between studies; I^2 is a percentage that indicates the proportion of variances that due to heterogeneity; Qindicates the amount of variance caused by the effect size differences across studies. We determined a priori that if the effect size is heterogenous, moderator analyses, including subgroup analyses for categorical variables and meta-regression for continuous variables, would be performed.

Results

Study Selection

We located 1925 studies through manuscript search after the removal of duplicate studies. A total of 195 records remained for full-text review after initial screening. Of these records, 38 were excluded due to no or uncertain parent involvement, 40 were excluded due to non-randomized placement, 14 were excluded due to children without ASD or PDD-NOS, 10 were excluded because of duplicate data, 4 were excluded because of no ASD child outcome data, 7 were excluded due to parent outcomes only, 9 were excluded due to no data at all, 1 was excluded due to children older than 18-years-old, and 31 were excluded because of unusable data. After additional searches from other sources, a total of 43 studies met the eligibility requirements and were included in this review. Three of them were merged with studies reporting the same sample. After merging studies on Covidence, we had a total of 40 records for final coding. Including those previously coded studies, 54 studies were involved in this meta-analysis that yields 51 records. Studies included consist of 3 (5.6%) grey literature and 51 published studies. The summary of the screening process is reported in the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) chart (Figure 1).

Descriptive Characteristics of Participants and Interventions

Across the 54 studies using the randomized controlled trial, 2895 child participants were recruited. These 54 studies were published between 1998 and 2020, a majority of the studies were published in 2019. The children's mean age is 5.49 years, with an average of 16.84% female child participants. The following descriptive characteristics are based on the total number of records reporting such characteristics (51 records). A total of 43 records (84.31%) involved both mother and father, 6 (11.76%) involved only the mother, and 2 (3.92%) involved other or

mixed caregivers. For the types of intervention, 12 aimed at promoting positive behavior or social skills, 8 at correcting problem behaviors, 6 at improving language or communication, and 25 are mixed. The combination of positive and negative behaviors and language/communication is the most common concern in the mixed intervention type.

Regarding the dosage of the intervention programs, parents or caregivers received an average of 89.6 minutes and 13.3 sessions of training; child participants received an average of 83 minutes and 12.6 sessions of interventions. Interventions for child participants were generally delivered weekly (54.9%), 11.8% happened bi-weekly, 7.8% occurred on a daily basis, 3.9% provided monthly or less, and 2% were delivered every other day. Training for parents mostly happened weekly (72.5%), 9.8% bi-weekly, and 3.9% monthly or less frequent, 2% each for not reported, only one session ever, daily, every other day, and twice weekly. The intervention sessions were conducted 47.06% by caregivers, 29.41% by caregivers and professionals together, 13.73% by caregivers at home and professionals in the clinic separately, and 9.8% by caregivers and professionals both together and individually. Child outcomes were measured in the following ways: 20 studies used direct observations, 15 had parents complete standardized instruments, 1 asked the children to complete standardized instruments, 14 reported using a mix of observations and standardized or unstandardized instruments, and 1 did not provide enough information.

Baseline differences did not suggest problems between intervention groups with the randomization process in 74.5% of the studies, 5.9% suggested significant group differences favor the intervention group, 11.8% suggested significant group differences favor the control group, and 7.8% did not report. Only 2 records had all interventionists, observers, and data analysts who were "blind" or unaware of participant allocation, 23 made the observers oblivious,

17 records did not provide enough information or stated that researchers were not blind, 7 reported interventionists and observers were blind, 1 had only the interventionists unaware, and 1 had observer and data analysts unaware. No information was provided for allocation concealment in 17 records; 29 indicated that researchers had no direct involvement in the randomization process, and 5 declared that researchers conducted the randomization and were aware.

Intervention effectiveness measured whether the program improved parents' abilities to intervene with the children. Twenty-two records did not report improvement parents gained from the program, 21 found that parents in the intervention group scored statistically significantly better than those in the control group, and 8 said that parents in the intervention group did not get significantly better, or they performed worse compared to the control group. Treatment fidelity was not measured or reported in most of the records (39.2%), 35.3% evaluated and reported intervention was implemented as intended, 23.5% assessed but did not report if the intervention was implemented as intended, and 2% were evaluated and there were problems. The average overall attrition is 2.89 participants in the experimental group and 2.34 participants in the control group.

For comparison group type, only one study used specified intervention program conducted by professionals, 17 used unspecified "treatment as usual" conducted by professionals, 7 used enrollments in a specific intervention program with some parent interventions, and 26 used a control group with no intervention. There are 35 records based on the effect size on completers and 16 based on intent-to-treat. A summary of the characteristics of the included studies is in Table 2.

Omnibus Analysis

To address potential issues that result from the small sample sizes of some studies, the overall average effect sizes were converted from *d* to Hedges' *g*. The random effects weighted average effect size was g = 0.55 (95% confidence interval g = 0.45 to 0.65; see Figure 2). Effect sizes ranged from g = -0.03 to 2.44, with statistically significant heterogeneity index ($\tau^2 = 0.05$; $I^2 = 37.64\%$; Q = 86.39, p < 0.001). The observed outcomes varied across 54 studies; however, the results tended to cluster around the overall mean, such that the magnitude of between-study variance was small. We evaluated possible moderating variables that may have accounted for differences in findings across studies.

Subgroup Analyses by Child Outcome

Within studies, authors evaluated different types of child outcomes. We categorized those outcomes into the following four groups: expected behaviors/social skills, maladaptive behaviors, adaptive behavior/life skills, and language/communication. We analyzed these data separately to ascertain the degree to which different kinds of outcomes were impacted by PII. Across 30 studies evaluating child outcomes in terms of expected behavior/social skills, the random effects weighted average was g = 0.603 (95% CI = 0.45 to 0.75, p < 0.001). These results were characterized by moderate and statistically significant heterogeneity (I^2 = 46.6, 95% CI = 18 to 65; Q = 54.3, p = 0.003).

Across 20 studies evaluating child outcomes in terms of maladaptive behavior, the random effects weighted average was g = 0.519 (95% CI = 0.37 to 0.67, p < 0.001). These results were characterized by small but statistically significant heterogeneity ($I^2 = 37.1$, 95% CI = 0 to 63; Q = 30.2, p = 0.049).

Across six studies evaluating child outcomes in terms of adaptive behavior/life skills, the random effects weighted average was g = 0.239, with that value not reaching statistical significance (95% CI = -0.11 to 0.59, p > 0.05). These results were characterized by small and statistically non-significant heterogeneity ($I^2 = 31.5$, 95% CI = 0 to 72; Q = 7.3, p = 0.20).

Across 19 studies evaluating child outcomes in terms of language/communication skills, the random effects weighted average was g = 0.545 (95% CI = 0.34 to 0.75, p < 0.001). These results were characterized by moderate, statistically significant heterogeneity ($l^2 = 61.2$, 95% CI = 36 to 76; Q = 46.4, p < .001).

Tests for Publication Bias

We administered several tests to detect plausible publication bias. Both Egger's regression test (p = 0.0607) and Begg's test (p = 0.1482) did not reach statical significance, suggesting the effect sizes were distributed normally. Subsequent trim-and-fill analyses did not identify any missing studies in the distribution either. We also generated a contour-enhanced funnel plot to examine publication bias (see Figure 3). In the plot, the data were only slightly asymmetrical. Even though asymmetry exists, the majority of the data were evenly distributed around the mean. Therefore, publication bias did not appear to be a potential threat to the results of this meta-analysis.

Moderation Effects of Participant and Intervention Characteristics

To inspect the influence of participant, intervention, and study characteristics on the interventions' effectiveness, we performed analyses comprising all relevant variables. Participant characteristics include the mean age of child participants and the percentage of females in each study. Intervention characteristics include who provided the intervention; caregiver evaluated for the effect size, types of intervention, intervention effectiveness, treatment fidelity, dosage

(sessions, frequency, and duration) for parents and children, types of measurement used, and baseline difference. Study characteristics include allocation concealment, masking of individuals involved in the interventions, comparison group type, attrition, and effect size based on completers or intent-to-treat. However, none of the variables reached statistical significance in the inverse variance weighted regressions and inverse variance weighted one-way ANOVA. They do not carry any moderating effects for the overall effect size. We further examined the impact of these variables on each dependent variable (i.e., positive behavior/social skills, maladaptive behavior, adaptive behavior/life skills, and language/communication). Adaptive behavior/life skills was omitted because only six cases were found. Nonetheless, there was no moderating effect of these variables on each of the dependent variable.

Discussion

Effectiveness in Treating Austism Spectrum Disorder

In general, the findings of this meta-analysis exhibited favorable effects of parentimplemented intervention for children with ASD. The random effects weighted average effect size (g = 0.55) showed a statistically significant effect and moderate in strength. This is consistent with some prior meta-analyses and systematic reviews (Deb et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020; Ratliff-Black & Therrien, 2020). Children with ASD can improve in positive behaviors/social skills (Kent et al., 2019; Ona et al., 2019; Soares et al., 2020), maladaptive behaviors (Black & Therrien, 2017; Gerow et al., 2017; Postorino et al., 2017), adaptive behaviors/life skills (Rodgers et al., 2021), and language/communication (Fuller et al., 2020; Sandbank et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2021; Yu et al., 2020) through PIIs. There was noticeable diversified effectiveness on the dependent variables. Moderate effect sizes were found in positive behavior/social skills, maladaptive behavior, language/communication (g = 0.603, 0.519, and 0.545 respectively). A small effect size was found for child improvement in adaptive behavior/life skills (g = 0.239). However, the outcome of adaptive behavior/life skills is still provisional due to only six studies targeted in this area. All the results should be interpreted with caution due to the potential risk of bias contributed by participants' variabilities, intervention, and study characteristics.

Moderators of Treatment Effectiveness

In our attempts to explore the moderating effects of participants, intervention, and study characteristics on the effectiveness of PIIs on children with ASD, we did not identify any variables that reached statistical significance. Similarly, there were no moderators identified for the data specific to the four dependent variables when analyzed separately. These results may be due to the small number of studies included in the analyses, with corresponding low statistical power.

Regarding the treatment dosage, studies often did not report information about the amount of services received by child participants. Therefore, we did not have sufficient information to analyze the influence of dosage on the effectiveness of PIIs for children with ASD. Besides, the reports of dosage were not standardized. Some studies reported the dosage in detail, while some only reported the total hours per week. Another issue is that not all studies required parents to log their time spent on homework assignments or using the interventions. Three studies reported this information, but those data were too limited to analyze. Limited information such as this not only prevented some moderator analyses from being conducted but also increased the possibility of risk of bias remaining undetected. Future research will be needed to analyze the impact of dosage on the effectiveness of PIIs, with a strong recommendation for future research to report essential information. The range of sample sizes across the 54 studies was 13 to 180. Among these studies, 13 (25.5%) of them with sample sizes less than 30 participants had low power, and the chances of detecting the actual effect of studies with low statistical power are low. Future research must conduct RCTs with sample sizes large enough to detect the true effect of PIIs for children with ASD. Nonetheless, oversized RCTs may be costly and may usher into unethical trials and waste resources.

Data in the following areas were missing in many studies: masking personnel involved in the interventions, allocation concealment, intervention effectiveness, and treatment fidelity. Hence, we did not have sufficient information to study their impacts on the potency of PIIs. All these components are pivotal for study and intervention qualities. It is significant for future research to track these components and include them when designing study procedures. Future research may also consider developing standardized manuals and fidelity checklists to fortify the adherence of intervention protocols and measure parents' abilities to intervene.

Comparison With Dyches et al.'s Meta-Analysis

This meta-analysis yielded overall results that were very similar to the findings of the meta-analysis by Dyches et al. (2018). This meta-analysis also showed that age and gender did not cause differences in the weighted average effect size's overall magnitude, consistent with Dyches et al.'s meta-analysis. We did not code for socioeconomic status, so we could not compare this independent variable with Dyches et al.'s analysis. Unlike Dyches et al.'s findings, the amount of time spent training parents did not affect the intervention effectiveness in this meta-analysis. We found that interventions targeting positive behavior/social skills had relatively greatest gains and relatively smallest gains when targeting adaptive behavior/life skills. Interventions targeting positive behavior/social skills, maladaptive behavior, and

language/communication had moderate gains. These results were different from Dyches et al.'s findings for children with DD.

Comparison With Previous Meta-Analyses and Systematic Reviews

As prior reviews mentioned, it is difficult to make conclusions regarding intervention effectiveness and generalize the effects since there are considerable variabilities in intervention characteristics across studies (Beaudoin et al., 2014; Deb et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020; Nevill et al., 2016; Parsons et al., 2017; Postorino et al., 2017; Ratliff-Black & Therrien, 2020; Tachibana et al., 2017; Tarver et al., 2019). Even within the scope of meta-analyses and systematic reviews, scholars use divergent inclusion criteria. For example, some include only RCTs, while others may consist of studies with varied designs. Besides study selection criteria, many variables may sway the results of meta-analyses and systematic reviews: numbers of studies included, scales of the reviews, variables chosen, targeted dependent variables, manuscript search methods, and sample sizes of individual research. Although the number of meta-analyses and systematic reviews on PIIs for children with ASD has increased in recent years, it is still strenuous to conclude the intervention effectiveness. Past reviews had demonstrated inconsistency, but our study yield relatively small inconsistency in findings. We think it is a positive step forward, showing that professionals can have reasonable confidence that PIIs will yield consistently moderately positive results. Moreover, we haven't located any reviews that showed adverse effects of these PIIs.

The child outcomes mainly relied on direct observations and parent-reported measures. Even though we found that parents yield similar results as professionally trained interventionists, we are still skeptical about potential bias brought by parent-reported measures. Nevill et al. (2016) and Oono et al. (2013) mentioned that the inability to blind parents might affect the outcomes. Wolstencroft et al. (2018) also indicated self-report or parent-report measures are susceptible to expectancy bias. Traver et al. (2019) mentioned that these types of measurements might introduce reporter bias as well. We are still inconclusive on the effects of measurement types, and we need to interpret these findings with caution. To address these biases, researchers may consider using teacher-report measurements for child outcomes. We found that teacher-report measurements are uncommon across 54 studies included in this analysis. Future research should take an in-depth look at how types of measurement moderate the potency of PIIs.

Research of PII programs conducted in countries rather than the United States, Europe, Canada, and Australia are unrepresented. We located studies from Japan, Korea, Thailand, Hong Kong, Taiwan, China, India, Pakistan, Iran, and Saudi Arabia during the initial manuscript search. However, many of them were excluded due to missing essential information (e.g., parent participation), written in other languages, flaws in research designs (e.g., non-RCTs), and data for child participants at risk with ASD were not reported separately from children with ASD diagnosis, and unusable data (e.g., did not provide the subscales score of screening or diagnostic tools when they are the only codable effect size). Only nine studies from non-English speaking countries were included for the final analysis. We also found difficulty in converting the effect sizes reported in some of these studies into d because the authors only mentioned "effect size" without specifying the types or names of those effect sizes. Crucial information (e.g., frequency, duration, sessions, treatment fidelity) was missing in some of these studies, consistent with Liu et al.'s findings (2020). The incomplete information hindered our abilities to investigate how PIIs may work for non-western populations with ASD. As Liu et al. (2020) mentioned, there is a need to increase research quality in low-resource countries.

Gender was not a variable addressed in most of the former reviews. Across the studies were reviewed, females comprised an average of 16.8% of participants. When looking at individual studies' descriptive statistics, Kuravackel et al. (2018) was the only study with a high proportion of female participants with ASD (78.8%). Males with ASD were over-represented compared to females with ASD in the research we located, but consistent with the ratio of males to females with ASD. We could not find any interactions of the percentage of females with ASD with the effectiveness of PIIs, but this is still indeterminate. We cannot make conclusions regarding effectiveness of PIIs on females with ASD; future research should investigate this subject matter. Similarly, for effects of PII on older children with ASD are not sufficiently investigated. The mean age of child participants in this analysis was 5.49 years. There is a need to conduct more research targeting older children with ASD and compare differences across age groups.

Even though some factors hinder our abilities to conclude the effectiveness of PIIs, this type of intervention is still valuable in two ways. First. PIIs promote generalization by helping parents apply skills in real-life situations across many contexts. Second, PIIs enhance maintenance by strengthening existing skills over time, which is more time than intensive treatment of 40 hours per week. Furthermore, PIIs may be particularly effective among families unable to afford intensive ASD treatments, lack insurance coverage, or have limited access to ASD treatments close by their residing areas.

Limitations

Results of this study should be interpreted with consideration of its limitations. Studies in this meta-analysis included only three (5.6%) grey literature. This analysis mainly relied on published studies prone to reporting bias because published studies may inflate PIIs' true effect.

Thoroughly combining both published and unpublished data in this meta-analysis was intricate. Like former meta-analyses and systematic reviews, the present study revealed immense variabilities across studies in intervention and study characteristics. It is also crucial to use standardized measurement tools for parents' and child's outcomes. Using standardized measurements will eliminate the variabilities. These measurements also allow future metaanalyses or systematic reviews to combine data across studies and generalize the effects. Since not all studies include follow-up data, it is nonviable to investigate the long-term impact of PIIs for children with ASD, which provides an avenue for future research. Even though we tried to include studies outside of North America, research related to PIIs conducted in low-resource countries is still under-represented. Future research should focus on studying ASD in other cultures and the efficacies existing interventions on these cultures. We also did not code for some potential moderators, for example, socioeconomic status, intervention settings, parents' education level, parenting style, and marital status. Future research should code for these variables and take a closer look at the interactions between them and the efficacy of PIIs. Consistent with the prevalence of ASD, most of the RCTs are predominantly male samples. The effectiveness of PIIs on females with ASD is inconclusive that opens an avenue for researchers. We do not know why dosage was not necessarily predictive of outcome in this meta-analysis. Larger sample sizes may be needed for future studies to examine the association of dosage and PIIs effectiveness. In addition to the effect of dosage, future studies need to find a systemic way to report dosage. The impact of PIIs on parents is another critical area. However, this metaanalysis did not focus on this. Future studies may investigate more thoroughly how PIIs affect parental stress.

Conclusion

PIIs can promote positive outcomes for children with ASD across the four dependent variables. Medium effect sizes were found in overall effect size as well as for the specific child outcomes of positive behavior/social skills, maladaptive behaviors, and language/communication skills. A small effect size was found in adaptive behavior/life skills. Other than this one difference across outcomes, no other moderating variable was identified in the analyses.

The potential risk of bias is still a threat to this meta-analysis; therefore, all findings should be interpreted with caution. Although PIIs provide positive outcomes for children with ASD, this approach should not be considered as a replacement for services provided by professionally trained therapists or professionals. Rather, researchers should focus more on how parent-implemented interventions may help to reinforce family functioning and child development (Stahmer & Pellecchia, 2015).

References

References marked with an asterisk indicate studies included in the meta-analysis.

- * Aldred, C., Green, J., & Adams, C. (2004). A new social communication intervention for children with autism: Pilot randomised controlled treatment study suggesting effectiveness. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(8), 1420–1430. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00338.x
- * Alquraini, T., Al-Odaib, A., Al-Dhalaan, H., Merza, H., & Mahoney, G. (2018). Feasibility of responsive teaching with mothers and young children with autism in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 40(4), 304–316.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815118789176

- * Alvarado, C. R. (2017). The sensoriaffective interactional attunement scale: Development and preliminary validation of a measure geared toward interactional enhancement between primary caregivers and their young children with autism spectrum disorders (Publication No. 10259393) [Doctoral dissertation, Fielding Graduate University]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596</u>
- * Amrollahi far, J., Hatami, H., & Ahadi, H. (2017). The effect of training play therapy to the mothers of autistic children to improve the verbal and nonverbal skills of their children. *Novelty in Biomedicine*, 5(1), 1–7.
- * Bearss, K., Johnson, C., Smith, T., Lecavalier, L., Swiezy, N., Aman, M., McAdam, D. B., Butter, E., Stillitano, C., Minshawi, N., Sukhodolsky, D. G., Mruzek, D. W., Turner, K., Neal, T., Hallett, V., Mulick, J. A., Green B., Handen, B., Deng, Y., ... Scahill, L.

(2015). Effect of parent training vs parent education on behavioral problems in children with autism spectrum disorder. *The Journal of the American Medical A ssociation*, *313*(15), 1524–1533. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.3150</u>

- * Bearss, K., Johnson, C., Smith, T., Lecavalier, L., Swiezy, N., Aman, M., McAdam, D. B., Butter, E., Stillitano, C., Minshawi, N., Sukhodolsky, D. G., Mruzek, D. W., Turner, K., Neal, T., Hallett, V., Mulick, J. A., Green B., Handen, B., Deng, Y., ... Scahill, L. (2016). Baseline data incorrect. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*. *316*(3), 350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.9050</u>
- Beaudoin, A. J., Sébire, G., & Couture, M. (2014). Parent training interventions for toddlers with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research and Treatment*, 2014, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/839890
- * Beaudoin, A. J., Sébire, G., & Couture, M. (2019). Parent-mediated intervention tends to improve parent-child engagement, and behavioral outcomes of toddlers with ASDpositive screening: A randomized crossover trial. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 66, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2019.101416</u>
- Black, M. E., & Therrien, W. J. (2017). Parent training programs for school-age children with autism: A systematic review. *Remedial and Special Education*, 39(4), 243–256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932517730645</u>
- * Brian, J. A., Smith, I. M., Zwaigenbaum, L., & Bryson, S. E. (2017). Cross-site randomized control trial of the social ABCs caregiver-mediated intervention for toddlers with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research*, *10*(10), 1700–1711. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1818

Buescher, A. V., Cidav, Z., Knapp, M., & Mandell, D. S. (2014). Costs of autism spectrum disorders in the United Kingdom and the United States. *The Journal of the American Medical Association Pediatrics*, 168(8), 721–728.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.210

* Byford, S., Cary, M., Barrett, B., Aldred, C. R., Charman, T., Howlin, P., Hudry, K., Leadbitter, K., Le Couteur, A., McConachie, H., Pickles, A., Slonims, V., Temple, K. J., Green, J., & the PACT Consortium. (2015). Cost-effectiveness analysis of a communication-focused therapy for pre-school children with autism: Results from a randomised controlled trial. *BioMed Central Psychiatry*, 15(1), 1–13.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-015-0700-x

- * Carter, A. S., Messinger, D. S., Stone, W. L., Celimli, S., Nahmias, A. S., & Yoder, P. (2011). A randomized controlled trial of Hanen's 'More Than Words' in toddlers with early autism symptoms. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 52(7), 741–752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02395.x</u>
- * Casenhiser, D. M., Binns, A., McGill, F., Morderer, O., & Shanker, S. G. (2015). Measuring and supporting language function for children with autism: Evidence from a randomized control trial of a social-interaction-based therapy. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(3), 846–857. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-014-2242-3</u>
- * Casenhiser, D. M., Shanker, S. G., & Stieben, J. (2013). Learning through interaction in children with autism: Preliminary data from a social-communication-based intervention. *Autism*, 17(2), 220–241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361311422052</u>

Cidav, Z., Munson, J., Estes, A., Dawson, G., Rogers, S., & Mandell, D. (2017). Cost offset associated with Early Start Denver Model for children with autism. *Journal of The American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 56(9), 777–783.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2017.06.007

- * Clionsky, L. N. (2012). Child directed interaction training for young children with autism spectrum disorders: The impact on child language, social skills, adaptive skills, and problematic behaviors (Publication No. 3647879) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Florida]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- * Cook, J. M., Donovan, C. L., & Garnett, M. S. (2019). Parent-mediated cognitive behavioural therapy for young children with high-functioning autism spectrum disorder and anxiety: A randomized control trial. *Early Child Development and Care*, *189*(1), 119–134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2017.1303684</u>
- Dabrowska, A., & Pisula, E. (2010). Parenting stress and coping styles in mothers and fathers of pre-school children with autism and Down syndrome. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 54(3), 266-280.
- Dawson-Squibb, J.-J., Davids, E. L., Harrison, A. J., Molony, M. A., & de Vries, P. J. (2020).
 Parent education and training for autism spectrum disorders: Scoping the evidence.
 Autism, 24(1), 7–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319841739</u>
- Deb, S., Retzer, A., Roy, M., Acharya, R., Limbu, B., & Roy, A. (2020). The effectiveness of parent training for children with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review and meta-analyses. *BioMed Central Psychiatry*, 20, Article 583. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-020-02973-7

- * Dekker, V., Nauta, M. H., Timmerman, M. E., Mulde, E. J., van der Veen-Mulders, L., van den Hoofdakker, B. J., van Warners, S., Vet, L. J. J., Hoekstra, P. J., & de Bildt, A. (2019). Social skills group training in children with autism spectrum disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 28(3), 415–424. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-018-1205-1
- Dyches, T. T., Smith, T. B., Korth, B. B., & Mandleco, B. (2018). Effects of parent-implemented interventions on outcomes for children with developmental disabilities: A meta-analysis. *Perspectives on Early Childhood Psychology and Education*, 3(1), 137–168.
- Egger, M., Smith, G. D., Schneider, M., & Minder, C. (1997). Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *British Medical Journal*, *315*(7109), 629-634.
- * Frankel, F., Myatt, R., Sugar, C., Whitham, C., Gorospe, C. M., & Laugeson, E. (2010). A randomized controlled study of parent-assisted children's friendship training with children having autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(7), 827–842. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-1016-9</u>
- Fuller, E. A., Oliver, K., Vejnoska, S. F., & Rogers, S. J. (2020). The effects of the Early Start Denver Model for children with autism spectrum disorder: A meta-analysis. *Brain Sciences*, 10(6), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci10060368</u>
- Gerow, S., Hagan-Burke, S., Rispoli, M., Gregori, E., Mason, R., & Ninci, J. (2017). A systematic review of parent-implemented functional communication training for children with ASD. *Behavior Modification*, 42(3), 335–363.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445517740872

- * Ginn, N. C., Clionsky, L. N., Eyberg, S. M., Warner-Metzger, C., & Abner, J.-P. (2017). Child-directed interaction training for young children with autism spectrum disorders: Parent and child outcomes. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 46(1), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2015.1015135
- * Green, J., Charman, T., McConachie, H., Aldred, C., Slonims, V., Howlin, P., Le Couteur, A., Leadbitter, K., Hudry, K., Byford, S., Barrett, B., Temple, K., Macdonald, W., Pickles, A., & the PACT Consortium. (2010). Parent-mediated communication-focused treatment in children with autism (PACT): A randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, *375*(9732), 2152–2160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(10)60587-9</u>
- * Handen, B. L., Aman, M. G., Arnold, L. E., Hyman, S. L., Tumuluru, R. V., Lecavalier, L., Corbett-Dick, P., Pan, X., Hollway, J. A., Buchan-Page, K. A., Silverman, L. B., Brown, N. V., Rice, R. R., Jr., Hellings, J., Mruzek, D. W., McAuliffe-Bellin, S., Hurt, E. A., Ryan, M. M., Levato, L., & Smith, T. (2015). Atomoxetine, parent training, and their combination in children with autism spectrum disorder and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of The American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *54*(11), 905–915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2015.08.013
- * Handen, B. L., Johnson, C. R., Butter, E. M., Lecavalier, L., Scahill, L., Aman, M. G., McDougle, C. J., Arnold, L. E., Swiezy N. B., Sukhodolsky, D. G., Mulick, J. A., White, S. W., Bearss, K., Hollway, J. A., Stigler, K. A., Dziura J., Yu, S., Sacco, K., & Vitiello, B. (2013). Use of a direct observational measure in a trial of risperidone and parent training in children with pervasive developmental disorders. *Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities*, 25(3), 355–371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10882-012-9316-y</u>
- * Hardan, A. Y., Gengoux, G. W., Berquist, K. L., Libove, R. A., Ardel, C. M., Phillips, J., Frazier, T. W., & Minjarez, M. B. (2014). A randomized controlled trial of pivotal response treatment group for parents of children with autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 56(8), 884–892. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12354</u>
- Hatcher, A., & Page, J. (2020). Parent-implemented language intervention for teaching enhanced milieu teaching strategies to parents of low-socioeconomic status. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 42(2), 122–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815119873085
- * Ho, M.-H., & Lin, L.-Y. (2020). Efficacy of parent-training programs for preschool children with autism spectrum disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 71(101495), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2019.101495</u>
- * Iadarola, S., Levato, L., Harrison, B., Smith, T., Lecavalier, L., Johnson, C., Swiezy, N., Bearss, K., & Scahill, L. (2018). Teaching parents behavioral strategies for autism spectrum disorder (ASD): Effects on stress, strain, and competence. *Journal of Autism* and Developmental Disorders, 48(4), 1031–1040. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3339-2</u>
- IBM Corporation. (2020). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows (Version 27.0) [Computer software]. IBM. https://www.ibm.com/support/pages/downloading-ibm-spss-statistics-27

Ingersoll, B., & Dvortcsak, A. (2019). The project ImPACT manual for parents. Guilford.

* Jocelyn, L. J., Casiro, O. G., Beattie, D., Bow, J., & Kneisz, J. (1998). Treatment of children with autism: A randomized controlled trial to evaluate a caregiver-based intervention program in community day-care centers. *Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 19(5), 326–334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004703-199810000-00002</u>

- * Kasari, C., Gulsrud, A. C., Wong, C., Kwon, S., & Locke, J. (2010). Randomized controlled caregiver mediated joint engagement intervention for toddlers with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(9), 1045–1056. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-</u> 010-0955-5
- Kent, C., Cordier, R., Joosten, A., Wilkes-Gillan, S., Bundy, A., & Speyer, R. (2019). A systematic review and meta-analysis of interventions to improve play skills in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 7(1), 91–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40489-019-00181-y</u>
- Koegel, L. K., Koegel, R. L., Ashbaugh, K., & Bradshaw, J. (2014). The importance of early identification and intervention for children with or at risk for autism spectrum disorders. *International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 16(1), 50-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/17549507.2013.861511</u>
- * Kuravackel, G. M., Ruble, L. A., Reese, R. J., Ables, A. P., Rodgers, A. D., & Toland, M. D. (2018). COMPASS for Hope: Evaluating the effectiveness of a parent training and support program for children with ASD. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(2), 404–416. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3333-8
- Lecavalier, L. (2006). Behavioral and emotional problems in young people with pervasive developmental disorders: Relative prevalence, effects of subject characteristics, and empirical classification. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *36*(8), 1101-1114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-006-0147-5

- Lee L. C., Stahmer A. C., Wu C. C., Tsai P. C., Chiang C. H. (2018). Home-based, parentimplemented intervention for underserved families in Taiwan. In M. Siller, & L. Morgan (Eds.), *Handbook of parent-implemented interventions for very young children with autism* (pp. 385–391). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90994-3_23</u>
- * Lehtonen, E., Muuvila, M. S., Helminen, T. M., Lauttia, J., Ahonen, S., Eriksson, K., & Kylliainen, A. (2020, June 3). *Parent-led training for motivating eye contact in children with autism spectrum disorder: BOSCC outcome study* [Poster presentation]. International Society for Autism Research, Virtual.

https://insar.confex.com/insar/2020/meetingapp.cgi/Paper/34903

- * Lindgren, S., Wacker, D., Schieltz, K., Suess, A., Pelzel, K., Kopelman, T., Lee, J., Romani, P., & O'Brien, M. (2020). A randomized controlled trial of functional communication training via telehealth for young children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50(12), 4449–4462.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04451-1
- Liu, Q., Hsieh, W.-Y., & Chen, G. (2020). A systematic review and meta-analysis of parentmediated intervention for children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder in mainland China, Hong Kong, and Taiwan. *Autism*, 24(8), 1960–1979. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320943380
- * Mahoney, G., & Solomon, R. (2016). Mechanism of developmental change in the PLAY project home consultation program: Evidence from a randomized control trial. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 46(5), 1860–1871. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2720-x</u>

- * Matthews, N. L., Orr, B. C., Warriner, K., DeCarlo, M., Sorensen, M., Laflin, J., & Smith, C. J. (2018a). Correction to: Exploring the effectiveness of a peer-mediated model of the PEERS curriculum: A pilot randomized control trial. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(7), 2476–2477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3531-z</u>
- * Matthews, N. L., Orr, B. C., Warriner, K., DeCarlo, M., Sorensen, M., Laflin, J., & Smith, C. J. (2018b). Exploring the effectiveness of a peer-mediated model of the PEERS curriculum: A pilot randomized control trial. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(7), 2458–2475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3504-2</u>
- * McDaniel, J., Yoder, P., Crandall, M., Millan, M. E., Ardel, C. M., Gengoux, G. W., & Hardan, A. Y. (2020). Effects of Pivotal Response Treatment on reciprocal vocal contingency in a randomized controlled trial of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism*, 24(6), 1566–1571. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320903138
- Meadan, H., Snodgrass, M. R., Meyer, L. E., Fisher, K. W., Chung, M. Y., & Halle, J. W.
 (2016). Internet-based parent-implemented intervention for young children with autism.
 Journal of Early Intervention, 38(1), 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815116630327
- Nahmias, A. S., Pellecchia, M., Stahmer, A. C., & Mandell, D. S. (2019). Effectiveness of community-based early intervention for children with autism spectrum disorder: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 60(11), 1200–1209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13073</u>
- Nevill, R. E., Lecavalier, L., & Stratis, E. A. (2016). Meta-analysis of parent-mediated interventions for young children with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism*, 22(2), 84–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361316677838</u>

- * Nowell, S. W., Watson, L. R., Boyd, B., & Klinger, L. G. (2019). Efficacy study of a social communication and self-regulation intervention for school-age children with autism spectrum disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 50(3), 416–433. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2019_lshss-18-0093</u>
- Ona, H. N., Larsen, K., Nordheim, L. V., & Brurberg, K. G. (2019). Effects of pivotal response treatment (PRT) for children with autism spectrum disorders (ASD): A systematic review. *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 7(1), 78–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40489-019-00180-z
- Oono, I. P., Honey, E. J., & McConachie, H. (2013). Parent-mediated early intervention for young children with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). *Evidence-Based Child Health: A Cochrane Review Journal*, 8(6), 2380-2479. https://doi.org/10.1002/ebch.1952
- * Pajareya, K., & Nopmaneejumruslers, K. (2011). A pilot randomized controlled trial of DIR/Floortime[™] parent training intervention for pre-school children with autistic spectrum disorders. *Autism*, 15(5), 563–577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361310386502</u>
- Parsons, D., Cordier, R., Vaz, S., & Lee, H. C. (2017). Parent-mediated intervention training delivered remotely for children with autism spectrum disorder living outside of urban areas: Systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(8), Article e198. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.6651</u>
- * Pashazadeh Azari, Z., Hosseini Hoseinzadeh, S. A., Rassafiani, M., Samadi, S. A., Hoseinzadeh, S., & Dunn, W. (2019). Contextual intervention adapted for autism spectrum disorder: An RCT of a parenting program with parents of children diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). *Iranian Journal Child Neurology*, 13(4), 19–35.

- Postorino, V., Sharp, W. G., McCracken, C. E., Bearss, K., Burrell, T. L., Evans, A. N., & Scahill, L. (2017). A systematic review and meta-analysis of parent training for disruptive behavior in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 20(4), 391–402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-017-0237-2</u>
- * Rahman, A., Divan, G., Hamdani, S. U., Vajaratkar, V., Taylor, C., Leadbitter, K., Aldred, C., Minhas, A., Cardozo, P., Emsley, R., Patel, V., & Green, J. (2016). Effectiveness of the parent-mediated intervention for children with autism spectrum disorder in south Asia in India and Pakistan (PASS): A randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 3(2), 128–136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(15)00388-0</u>
- Ratliff-Black, M., & Therrien, W. (2020). Parent-mediated interventions for school-age children with ASD: A meta-analysis. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 36(1), 3–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1088357620956904</u>
- Reichow, B. (2011). Overview of meta-analyses on early intensive behavioral intervention for young children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42(4), 512–520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1218-9</u>
- * Reitzel, J., Summers, J., Lorv, B., Szatmari, P., Zwaigenbaum, L., Georgiades, S., & Duku, E. (2013). Pilot randomized controlled trial of a functional behavior skills training program for young children with autism spectrum disorder who have significant early learning skill impairments and their families. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7(11), 1418–1432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2013.07.025</u>

 * Roberts, J., Williams, K., Carter, M., Evans, D., Parmenter, T., Silove, N., Clark, T., & Warren, A. (2011). A randomised controlled trial of two early intervention programs for young children with autism: Centre-based with parent program and home-based. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5(4), 1553–1566.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2011.03.001

- Rodgers, M., Simmonds, M., Marshall, D., Hodgson, R., Stewart, L. A., Rai, D., Wright, K.,
 Ben-Itzchak, E., Eikeseth, S., Eldevik, S., Kovshoff, H., Magiati, I., Osborne L. A., Reed,
 P., Vivanti, G., Zachor, D., & Le Couteur, A. (2021). Intensive behavioural interventions
 based on applied behaviour analysis for young children with autism: An international
 collaborative individual participant data meta-analysis. *Autism*, 25(4), 1137–1153.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320985680
- SaaS Enterprise. (2014). *Covidence systematic review software* [Online software]. Veritas Health Innovation. <u>https://www.covidence.org/</u>
- Sandbank, M., Bottema-Beutel, K., Crowley, S., Cassidy, M., Feldman, J. I., Canihuante, M., & Woynaroski, T. (2020). Intervention effects on language in children with autism: A project AIM meta-analysis. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 63(5), 1537–1560. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2020</u> jslhr-19-00167
- * Schertz, H. H., Odom, S. L., Baggett, K. M., & Sideris, J. H. (2013). Effects of joint attention mediated learning for toddlers with autism spectrum disorders: An initial randomized controlled study. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 28(2), 249–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2012.06.006
- * Schertz, H. H., Odom, S. L., Baggett, K. M., & Sideris, J. H. (2018). Mediating parent learning to promote social communication for toddlers with autism: Effects from a randomized

controlled trial. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(3), 853–867. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3386-8

 * Scudder, A., Wong, C., Ober, N., Hoffman, M., Toscolani, J., & Handen, B. L. (2019). Parent– child interaction therapy (PCIT) in young children with autism spectrum disorder. *Child* & Family Behavior Therapy, 41(4), 201–220.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07317107.2019.1659542

- * Shire, S. Y., Gulsrud, A., & Kasari, C. (2016). Increasing responsive parent-child interactions and joint engagement: Comparing the influence of parent-mediated intervention and parent psychoeducation. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 46(5), 1737– 1747. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2702-z</u>
- * Shum, K. K.-M., Cho, W. K., Lam, L. M. O., Laugeson, E. A., Wong, W. S., & Law, L. S. K. (2019). Learning how to make friends for Chinese adolescents with autism spectrum disorder: A randomized controlled trial of the Hong Kong Chinese version of the PEERS® intervention. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 49(2), 527–541. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3728-1</u>
- * Siller, M., Hutman, T., & Sigman, M. (2013). A parent-mediated intervention to increase responsive parental behaviors and child communication in children with ASD: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(3), 540– 555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1584-y</u>
- Soares, E. E., Bausback, K., Beard, C. L., Higinbotham, M., Bunge, E. L., & Gengoux, G. W. (2020). Social skills training for autism spectrum disorder: A meta-analysis of in-person and technological interventions. *Journal of Technology in Behavioral Science*, 6(1), 166– 180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s41347-020-00177-0</u>

- * Sofronoff, K., Attwood, T., Hinton, S., & Levin, I. (2007). A randomized controlled trial of a cognitive behavioural intervention for anger management in children diagnosed with Asperger syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37, 1203–1214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-006-0262-3
- * Sofronoff, K., Leslie, A., & Brown, W. (2004). Parent management training and Asperger syndrome: A randomized controlled trial to evaluate a parent based intervention. *Autism*, 8(3), 301–317. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361304045215</u>
- * Solomon, M., Ono, M., Timmer, S., & Goodlin-Jones, B. (2008). The effectiveness of parent– child interaction therapy for families of children on the autism spectrum. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 38(9), 1767–1776. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-008-0567-5</u>
- * Solomon, R., Van Egeren, L. A., Mahoney, G., Quon Huber, M. S., & Zimmerman, P. (2014). PLAY project home consultation intervention program for young children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 35(8), 475–485. https://doi.org/10.1097/dbp.0000000000000096
- Stahmer, A. C., & Pellecchia, M. (2015). Moving towards a more ecologically valid model of parent-implemented interventions in autism. *Autism*, 19(3), 259–261.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361314566739

- StataCorp. (2019). Stata statistical software (Version 16.0) [Computer software]. StataCorp Limited Liability Company. <u>https://www.stata.com/support/updates/stata16.html</u>
- Steinbrenner, J. R., Hume, K., Odom, S. L., Morin, K. L., Nowell, S. W., Tomaszewski, B., Szendrey, S., McIntyre, N. S., Yücesoy-Özkan, S., & Savage, M. N. (2020). Evidencebased practices for children, youth, and young adults with autism. The University of

North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Frank Porter Graham Child Development Institute, National Clearinghouse on Autism Evidence and Practice Review Team. <u>https://ncaep.fpg.unc.edu/sites/ncaep.fpg.unc.edu/files/imce/documents/EBP%20Report</u> <u>%202020.pdf</u>

- Symon, J. B. (2001). Parent education for autism: Issues in providing services at a distance. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 3(3), 160-174. https://doi.org/10.1177/109830070100300304
- Tachibana, Y., Miyazaki, C., Ota, E., Mori, R., Hwang, Y., Kobayashi, E., Terasaka, A., Tang, J., & Kamio, Y. (2017). A systematic review and meta-analysis of comprehensive interventions for pre-school children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). *PLOS ONE*, *12*(12), 1–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0186502</u>
- Tanner, A., & Dounavi, K. (2020). The emergence of autism symptoms prior to 18 months of age: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 51(3), 973–993. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04618-w</u>
- Tarver, J., Palmer, M., Webb, S., Scott, S., Slonims, V., Simonoff, E., & Charman, T. (2019).
 Child and parent outcomes following parent interventions for child emotional and behavioral problems in autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Autism*, 23(7), 1630–1644. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319830042</u>
- * Tellegen, C. L., & Sanders, M. R. (2014). A randomized controlled trial evaluating a brief parenting program with children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 82(6), 1193–1200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037246</u>
- * Tonge, B., Brereton, A., Kiomall, M., Mackinnon, A., & Rinehart, N. J. (2014). A randomised group comparison controlled trial of 'preschoolers with autism': A parent education and

skills training intervention for young children with autistic disorder. *Autism*, *18*(2), 166–177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361312458186</u>

- Turner, K. M., Markie-Dadds, C., & Sanders, M. R. (2010). Practitioner's manual for primary care triple P. Triple P International Proprietary Limited.
- * Turner-Brown, L., Hume, K., Boyd, B. A., & Kainz, K. (2019). Preliminary efficacy of family implemented TEACCH for toddlers: Effects on parents and their toddlers with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 49(7), 2685–2698. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2812-7</u>
- * Valeri, G., Casula, L., Menghini, D., Amendola, F. A., Napoli, E., Pasqualetti, P., & Vicari, S. (2019). Cooperative parent-mediated therapy for Italian preschool children with autism spectrum disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 29(7), 935–946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-019-01395-5</u>
- Van Aert, R. C., Wicherts, J. M., & Van Assen, M. A. (2019). Publication bias examined in meta-analyses from psychology and medicine: A meta-meta-analysis. *PlOS ONE*, *14*(4).
 1–32. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0215052</u>
- Wang, Z., Loh, S. C., Tian, J., & Chen, Q. J. (2021). A meta-analysis of the effect of the Early Start Denver Model in children with autism spectrum disorder. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2020.1870419</u>

Warren, Z., McPheeters, M. L., Sathe, N., Foss-Feig, J. H., Glasser, A., & Veenstra-VanderWeele, J. (2011). A systematic review of early intensive intervention for autism spectrum disorders. *Pediatrics*, 127(5), 1303–1311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-0426</u> * Whittingham, K., Sofronoff, K., Sheffield, J., & Sanders, M. R. (2009). Stepping Stones Triple
 P: An RCT of a parenting program with parents of a child diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *37*(4), 469–480.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-008-9285-x

Williams, S. K., Scahill, L., Vitiello, B., Aman, M. G., Arnold, L. E., McDougle, C. J.,
McCracken, J. T., Tierney, E., Ritz, L., Posey, D. J., Swiezy, N. B., Hollway, J., Cronin,
P., Ghuman, J., Wheeler, C., Cicchette, D., & Sparrow, S. (2006). Risperidone and
adaptive behavior in children with Autism. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 45(4), 431-439.

https://doi.org/10.1097/01.chi.0000196423.80717.32

Wilson, D. B. (2021). Effect size calculator.

https://www.campbellcollaboration.org/escalc/html/EffectSizeCalculator-Home.php.

- Wolstencroft, J., Robinson, L., Srinivasan, R., Kerry, E., Mandy, W., & Skuse, D. (2018). A systematic review of group social skills interventions, and meta-analysis of outcomes, for children with high functioning ASD. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(7), 2293–2307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3485-1
- * Wong, V. C. N., & Kwan, Q. K. (2010). Randomized controlled trial for early intervention for autism: A pilot study of the Autism 1-2-3 project. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(6), 677–688. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-009-0916-z</u>
- * Yoo, H.-J., Bahn, G., Cho, I.-H., Kim, E.-K., Kim, J.-H., Min, J.-W., Lee, W.-H, Seo, J.-S., Jun, S.-S., Bong, G, Cho, S., Shin, M.-S., Kim, B.-N., Kim, J.-W., Park, S., & Laugeson, E. A. (2014). A randomized controlled trial of the Korean version of the PEERS® parent-

assisted social skills training program for teens with ASD. *Autism Research*, 7(1), 145–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1354</u>

- Yu, Q., Li, E., Li, L., & Liang, W. (2020). Efficacy of interventions based on applied behavior analysis for autism spectrum disorder: A meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Investigation*, 17(5), 432–443. <u>https://doi.org/10.30773/pi.2019.0229</u>
- * Zand, D. H., Bultas, M. W., McMillin, S. E., Halloran, D., White, T., McNamara, D., & Pierce, K. J. (2018). A pilot of a brief positive parenting program on children newly diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder. *Family Process*, 57(4), 901–914.

https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12334

Tables

Table 1

Search String Examples Used in Final Manuscript Search

Primary concept/inclusion criteria	Corresponding search string examples	
Parent	(parenting or "parent* of" or "carer of" or	
	"mother* of" or "father*) and	
Parent-implemented interventions	("parent program*" or "parent mediated" or	
	"parent delivered" or "family delivered" or	
	"parent-delivered") and	
Children	(child* or adolescen* or teen* or youth or	
	"under 18") and	
ASD	(Autis* or Asperger* or ASD) and	
RCTs	(random* or "controlled trial" or "clinical	
	trial" or experiment*)	

Table 2 (Part 1)

Overview	of	54	Studies	Incl	luded
----------	----	----	---------	------	-------

Author(s)	Country	Ν	Mean Age (Years)	Effect Size (d)
Aldred et al., 2004	United Kingdom	28	3.83	0.2613
Alquraini et al., 2018	Saudi Arabia	28	3.70	2.5100
Alvarado, 2017*	United States	30	3.73	1.3487
Amrollahi far 2017	Iran	30	7.23	0.5240
Bearss et al., 2015, 2016	United States	180	4.75	0.3620
Beaudoin et al., 2019	Canada	19	2.13	0.0000
Brian et al., 2017	Canada	62	2.10	1.0030
Byford et al., 2015	United Kingdom	146	4.00	0.4100
Carter et al., 2011	United States	50	1.67	0.0000
Casenhiser et al., 2013 & Casenhiser et al., 2015	Canada	51	3.71	0.7311
Cook et al., 2019	Australia	31	5.50	0.0000
Dekker et al., 2019	Netherlands	69	11.00	0.4300
Frankel et al., 2010	United States	68	8.53	0.2205
Ginn et al., 2017 & Clionsky 2012*	United States	30	4.72	0.6183
Green et al., 2010	United Kingdom	152	3.75	0.1694
Handen et al., 2013	United States	124	7.43	0.1975
Handen et al., 2015	United States	64	7.95	0.5216
Hardan et al., 2015	United States	47	4.10	0.4200
Ho & Lin, 2020	Taiwan	24	4.04	0.5119
Iadarola et al., 2018	United States	180	4.75	0.7770
Jocelyn et al., 1998	Canada	35	3.60	-0.0356
Kasari et al., 2010	United States	38	2.57	0.6291
Kuravackel et al., 2018	United States	33	8.08	0.7100
Lehtonen et al., 2020**	Finland	20	4.13	0.3223
Lindgren et al., 2020	United States	38	4.35	1.5700
Matthews et al., 2018a, b	United States	22	15.27	1.8700
McDaniel et al., 2020	United States	40	4.03	0.5000
Nowell et al., 2019	United States	17	6.82	0.8529
Pajareya & Nopmaneejumruslers, 2011	Thailand	32	4.50	1.0724
Pashazadeh Azari et al., 2019	Iran	33	6.82	0.3970
Rahman et al., 2016	India & Pakistan	59	5.43	0.6123
Reitzel et al., 2013	Canada	13	4.88	-0.0300
Roberts et al., 2011	Australia	57	3.55	0.6144
Schertz et al., 2013	United States	23	2.18	0.4967
Schertz et al., 2018	United States	131	2.06	0.4825
Scudder et al., 2019	United States	19	5.62	0.5057
Shire et al., 2016	United States	83	2.58	0.8403
Shum et al., 2019	Hong Kong	66	13.51	0.5620
Siller et al., 2013	United States	70	4.76	0.1740
Sofronoff et al., 2004	Australia	100	9.33	1.0912
Sofronoff et al., 2007	Australia	45	10.78	1.1332
Solomon et al., 2008	United States	19	8.15	0.5581
Solomon et al., 2014 & Mahoney & Solomon, 2016	United States	128	4.18	0.3661
Tellegen & Sanders, 2014	Australia	64	5.67	0.4800
Tonge et al., 2014	Australia	70	4.00	0.7601
Turner-Brown et al., 2019	United States	49	2.47	0.4800
Valeri et al., 2019	Italy	34	4.30	0.5800
Whittingham et al., 2009	Australia	59	5.91	0.2100
Wong & Kwan, 2010	Hong Kong	17	2.21	0.0000
Yoo et al., 2014	Korea	47	13.78	1.1648
Zand et al., 2018	United States	21	5.84	1.0220

* Thesis or dissertation; ** Conference poster

Table 2 (Part 2)

Author(s)	Exp. n	Con. n	%	Intervention Name
	_		female	
Aldred et al., 2004	14	14	10.7	Social Communication Intervention
Alquraini et al., 2018	13	15	21.4	Responsive Teaching
Alvarado 2017*	14	16	23.3	Sensoriaffective Interactional Attunement Scale-Guided
				Intervention
Amrollahi far 2017	15	15	43.3	Play Therapy Training
Bearss et al., 2015, 2016	89	91	12.2	Behavioral Interventions
Beaudoin et al., 2019	9	10	21.1	Parent Implemented Early Start Denver Model (P-ESDM)
Brian et al., 2017	30	32	24.2	Social ABCs Parent-Mediated Intervention
Byford et al., 2015	74	72	9.1	Pre-School Autism Communication Trial (PACT)
Carter et al., 2011	27	23	17.7	Hanen's 'More Than Words'
Casenhiser et al., $2013 \&$	25	26	No data	Milton & Ethel Harris Research Initiative (MEHRI)
Casenniser et al., 2015	1.4	17	12.0	Constitute Delevisional Themenes (CDT)
Doldren et al. 2019	14	1/	12.9	Cognitive Benavioral Therapy (CBT)
Erembel et al. 2010	4/	22	17.5	Children's Eriondohin Training
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Franker et al., 2010} \\ \text{Ginn et al., 2017 } \\ \end{array}$	33 15	55 15	14.7 20	Child Directed Interaction Training
Clionsky 2012*	15	15	20	Child-Directed Interaction Training
Green et al. 2010	77	75	0.2	D Λ CT
Handen et al. 2013	75	49	18.1	Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology –
Handen et al., 2015	15	77	10.1	Autism Network (RUPP)
Handen et al 2015	32	32	18.8	RUPP
Hardan et al 2015	25	22	25	Pivotal Response Treatment (PRT)
Ho & Lin 2020	12	12	0	Developmental Individual-Difference Relationshin-Based
110 @ Em, 2020	12	12	Ū	Model
Iadarola et al., 2018	89	91	12.2	RUPP
Jocelyn et al., 1998	16	19	2.9	Autism Preschool Program
Kasari et al., 2010	19	19	23.7	Joint Attention Intervention
Kuravackel et al., 2018	23	10	78.8	Collaborative Model for Promoting Competence and
*				Success for Hope
Lehtonen et al., 2020**	10	10	10	Parent-Led Eye Contact-Specific Training
Lindgren et al., 2020	21	17	15.8	Functional Communication Training
Matthews et al., 2018a, b	10	12	18.2	Peers-Mediated Model of Program for the Education and
				Enrichment of Relational Skills (PEERS®)
McDaniel et al., 2020	20	20	12	PRT
Nowell et al., 2019	8	9	23.5	Growing, Learning, and Living with Autism (GoriLLA)
Pajareya &	16	16	12.5	Developmental, Individual-Difference, Relationship-
Nopmaneejumruslers, 2011				Based (DIR)/Floortime TM
Pashazadeh Azari et al., 2019	16	17	21	Contextual Interventions for ASD
Rahman et al., 2016	29	30	18.5	PACT
Reitzel et al., 2013	7	6	No data	Functional Behavior Skills Training
Roberts et al., 2011	57	28	9.5	Building Blocks Program
Schertz et al., 2013	11	12	No data	Joint Attention Mediated Learning (JAML)
Schertz et al., 2018	64	67	20.6	JAML
Scudder et al., 2019	10	9	10.5	Parent-Child Interaction Therapy (PCIT)
Shire et al., 2016	42	41	17.7	Joint Attention, Symbolic Play, Engagement, and
Sharm et al. 2010	22	22	21.2	Regulation (JASPER)
Shum et al., 2019	33 26	33 24	21.2	
Silier et al., 2013	30 50	54 50	8.0	Focused Playtime Intervention
Sofronoff et al., 2004	50 24	21	$\frac{1}{4}$	Connecting Conversations and Social Stories
Solution et al. 2007	2 4 10	21 0	4.4 0	DCIT
Solomon et al., 2008	64	7 64	18	I VII Play and Language for Autistic Voungstars (DLAV)
Mahoney & Solomon 2016	04	04	10	Project Home Consultation model
Tellegen & Sanders 2014	35	29	14 1	Stepping Stopes Triple P (SSTP)
1 chiegon & Sunders, 2017	55	<u> </u>	1 1.1	Stepping Stones Inpier (SSII)

Overview of 54 Studies Included

Author(s)	Exp. <i>n</i>	Con. n	%	Intervention Name
	_		female	
Tonge et al., 2014	35	35	17.1	Parent Education and Counselling (PEAC), Parent
				Education and Behavioral Management (PEBM)
Turner-Brown et al., 2019	32	17	14.3	Family Implemented TEACCH for Toddlers (FITT)
Valeri et al., 2019	17	17	20.6	Cooperative Parent-Mediated Therapy (CPMT)
Whittingham et al., 2009	29	30	20.3	SSTP
Wong & Kwan, 2010	9	8	5.9	Autism-1-2-3
Yoo et al., 2014	23	24	6.4	PEERS®
Zand et al., 2018	12	9	14.3	Positive Parenting Program

* Thesis or dissertation; ** Conference poster

Table 2 (Part 3)

Author(s)	Intervention	Training for Parents ^b	Interventions for Children ^b	Relevant
Tution(0)	Providers ^a	(weeks/sessions/minutes)	(weeks/sessions/minutes)	Dependent
		((Variables ^c
Aldred et al., 2004	Mixed	32 wks/9 sess.	32 wks/9 sess./30 mins.	PB, AB, L
Alquraini et al., 2018	Together	16 wks/16 sess./60 mins	16 wks/16 sess./60 mins	PB, L
Alvarado 2017*	Parents	4 wks/4 sess./60 mins	4 wks/3 sess./60 mins	PB
Amrollahi far 2017	Parents	8 wks/17 sess.	8 wks/17 sess.	L
Bearss et al., 2015, 2016	Parents	24 wks/12 sess./75 mins	24 wks	MB
Beaudoin et al., 2019	Together	12 wks/12 sess./67.5 mins	12 wks/12 sess./67.5 mins	PB
Brian et al., 2017	Parents	12 wks/12 sess./90 mins	12 wks/12 sess./90 mins	PB, L
Byford et al., 2015	Together	52 wks/16 sess./150 mins	52 wks/16 sess./150 mins	L
Carter et al., 2011	Together	42 wks/11 sess.	42 wks/3 sess.	PB, L
Casenhiser et al., 2013 &	Mixed	48 wks/58 sess./120 mins	48 wks/50 sess./120 mins	PB, L
Casenhiser et al., 2015				
Cook et al., 2019	Parents	10 wks/10 sess./90 mins	10 wks/0 sess.	MB
Dekker et al., 2019	Mixed	24 wks/17 sess./90 mins	24 wks/17 sess./90 mins	PB
Frankel et al., 2010	Separate	12 wks/12 sess./60 mins	12 wks/12 sess./60 mins	PB, MB
Ginn et al., 2017 &	Mixed	10 wks/8 sess./60 - 75 mins	10 wks/8 sess./ 60 - 75 mins	PB, MB
Clionsky 2012*				,
Green et al., 2010	Parents	52 wks/18 sess./120 mins	52 wks/18 sess./120 mins	PB, L
Handen et al., 2013	Parents	24 wks/12 sess./60 - 90 mins	No data	MB
Handen et al., 2015	Parents	10 wks/10 sess./60 - 90 mins	10 wks/10 sess./60 - 90 mins	MB
Hardan et al., 2015	Together	12 wks/12 sess./60 - 90 mins	12 wks/4 sess./60 mins	L
Ho & Lin, 2020	Parents	14 wks/5 sess./360 mins	14 wks/11 sess.	PB, AB, L
Iadarola et al., 2018	Parents	24 wks/13 sess./60 - 90 mins	No data	MB
Jocelyn et al., 1998	Separate	12 wks/5 sess./180 mins	12 wks/10 sess./180 mins	PB, AB, L
Kasari et al., 2010	Together	8 wks/24 sess./45 mins	8 wks/24 sess./45 mins	PB
Kuravackel et al., 2018	Parents	8 wks/8 sess./60 - 120 mins	No data	MB
Lehtonen et al., 2020**	Parents	No data	No data	PB, L
Lindgren et al., 2020	Parents	12 wks/9 sess./60 mins	12 wks/9 sess./60 mins	MB
Matthews et al., 2018a, b	Separate	14 wks/14 sess./90 mins	14 wks/14 sess./90 mins	PB
McDaniel et al., 2020	Together	24 wks/15 sess./300 - 600 mins	24 wks/15 sess./300 - 600	L
		per wk	mins per wk	
Nowell et al., 2019	Together	12 wks/12 sess./90 mins	12 wks/12 sess./60 mins	PB
Pajareya &	Parents	12 wks/1 sess./912 mins per wk	No data	PB
Nopmaneejumruslers, 2011				
Pashazadeh Azari et al.,	Parents	12 sess./45 mins	No data	AB
2019				
Rahman et al., 2016	Parents	24 wks/12 sess./60 mins	24 wks/12 sess./60 mins	L
Reitzel et al., 2013	Together	16 wks/16 sess./120 mins	16 wks/16 sess./90 mins	MB, AB
Roberts et al., 2011	Mixed	40 wks/40 sess./120 mins	40 wks/40 sess./120 mins	PB, MB, L
Schertz et al., 2013	Parents	No data	15 sess.	L
Schertz et al., 2018	Parents	32 wks/32 sess./60 mins	32 wks/32 sess./60 mins	PB
Scudder et al., 2019	Parents	18 wks/16 sess./60 mins	18 wks/16 sess./60 mins	PB, MB
Shire et al., 2016	Together	10 wks/10 sess./60 mins	10 wks/10 sess./60 mins	PB
Shum et al., 2019	Separate	14 wks/14 sess./90 mins	14 wks/14 sess./90 mins	PB, MB
Siller et al., 2013	Together	12 wks/12 sess./90 mins	12 wks/12 sess./90 mins	L
Sofronoff et al., 2004	Parents	4 wks/7 sess./60 mins – 1 day	No data	PB, MB
Sofronoff et al., 2007	Separate	6 wks/6 sess./120 mins	6 wks/6 sess./120 mins	MB
Solomon et al., 2008	Parents	12.7 sess.	12.7 sess.	PB, MB
Solomon et al., 2014 &	Together	48 wks/10.5 sess./180 mins	48 wks/10.5 sess./180 mins	PB, L
Mahoney & Solomon, 2016				
Tellegen & Sanders, 2014	Parents	8 wks/4 sess./15 - 105 mins	No data	MB
Tonge et al., 2014	Together	20 wks/20 sess./60 - 90 mins	20 wks/10 sess./60 mins	All
Turner-Brown et al., 2019	Together	24 wks/24 sess./90 mins	24 wks/20 sess./90 mins	PB, L
Valeri et al., 2019	Together	24 wks/15 sess./60 mins	24 wks/15 sess./60 mins	PB

Overview of 54 Studies Included

Author(s)	Intervention	Training for Parents ^b	Interventions for Children ^b	Relevant
	Providers "	(weeks/sessions/minutes)	(weeks/sessions/minutes)	Verichles
				variables -
Whittingham et al., 2009	Parents	9 wks/9 sess.	9 wks/4 sess.	MB
Wong & Kwan, 2010	Separate	2 wks/10 sess./30 mins	2 wks/10 sess./30 mins	PB, L
Yoo et al., 2014	Separate	14 wks/14 sess./90 mins	14 wks/14 sess./90 mins	PB
Zand et al., 2018	Parents	4 wks/4 sess./30 - 60 mins	No data	MB

* Thesis or dissertation; ** Conference poster. a Separate – parents and professionals separate;

together – parents and professionals together. b Booster sessions were included; however, optional sessions were not. Follow-up data and self-reported intervention duration for children were not included. c PB – positive behavior/social skill; MB – maladaptive behavior; AB – adaptive behavior/life skills; and L – language/communication skills.

Figures

Figure 1

PRISMA Chart of Included Studies



Figure 2

Study	Effect size (g)	g with 95% CI	Weight
			(70)
Jocelyn 1998		-0.03 [-0.70, 0.63]	1.64
Reitzel 2013		-0.03 [-1.12, 1.06]	0.74
Cook 2019		0.00[-0.71, 0.71]	1.50
Carter 2011		0.00 [-0.56, 0.56]	2.09
Beaudoin 2019		0.00 [-0.90, 0.90]	1.03
		0.00 [-0.95, 0.95]	0.94
Siller 2010		0.17 [-0.15, 0.49]	3.67
Siller 2013		0.17 [-0.30, 0.64]	2.50
Whittinghom 2000		0.20 [-0.16, 0.56]	3.32
Frankal 2010		0.21[-0.30, 0.72]	2.52
Aldred 2004		0.22 [-0.20, 0.09]	2.52
Labtenen 2020		0.25 [-0.49, 1.00]	1.40
Bearra 2015		0.31[-0.37, 1.19]	2.00
Selamon 2014		0.36 [0.07, 0.86]	3.00
Bachazadah Azari 2010		0.30 [0.01, 0.71]	1.56
PashazadenAzari 2019		0.39 [-0.30, 1.00]	2.50
Byford 2015		0.41 [0.08, 0.74]	3.59
Hardan 2015		0.41[-0.17, 0.99]	1.99
Dekker 2019		0.43 [-0.09, 0.94]	2.32
Turner-Brown 2019		0.47 [-0.12, 1.07]	1.91
Cabled and 2014		0.47 [-0.02, 0.97]	2.39
Schertz 2013		0.46 [-0.35, 1.31]	1.17
Schertz 2018		0.48 [0.13, 0.83]	3.43
Scudder 2019		0.48 [-0.43, 1.40]	1.00
McDaniel 2020		0.49 [-0.14, 1.12]	1.77
		0.49 [-0.32, 1.31]	1.21
Amrollanilar 2017	-	0.51 [-0.22, 1.24]	1.44
Handen 2015		0.52 [0.02, 1.01]	2.40
Solomon 2008		0.53 [-0.38, 1.45]	1.00
Shum 2019		0.56 [0.06, 1.05]	2.43
Cipp 2017	I	0.60 [0.12, 1.25]	1.07
Bohmon 2016		0.60 [-0.13, 1.33]	2.26
Rehete 2011		0.60 [0.06, 1.13]	2.20
Koperi 2010		0.61 [0.15, 1.07]	1.60
Kusavaskal 2019		0.62 [-0.04, 1.27]	1.09
Casephicer 2015		0.72 [0.15 1.29]	2.04
Topgo 2014	-	0.72 [0.13, 1.29]	2.04
Induced 2014		0.75 [0.27, 1.24]	3.80
Shire 2016		0.07 [0.47, 1.00]	3.00
Nowell 2019		0.80 [0.33, 1.24]	0.87
Zand 2018		0.98[0.06 1.90]	1.00
Brian 2017		0.99 [0.46 1.52]	2.23
Pajareva 2011		1.05 [0.30, 1.79]	1.40
Sofronoff 2004		1.08 [0.66, 1.70]	2.88
Sofronoff 2007		1.11 [0.48 1.74]	1 77
Yoo 2014		1.17[0.53, 1.74]	1.82
Alvarado 2018		1.31 [0.52 2.11]	1.02
Lindaren 2020		1.54 [0.81, 2.27]	1.43
Matthews 2018		1.80 [0.79 2.80]	0.86
Alguraini 2018		244 [145 343]	0.87
Overall			0.07
Uverall Heterogeneity: $r^2 = 0.05$ $l^2 = 27.640$ / $L^2 = 4.60$	Y	0.55 [0.45, 0.65]	
Test of $P = P \cdot O(50) = 9020$ $r = 0.00$			
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$. $\alpha(30) = 00.39$, $\beta = 0.00$			
10101010-0.2-10.12, p=0.00	-1 0 1 2 3	3	

Forest Plot of Effect Size and 95% Confidence Interval of 54 Studies

Figure 3

Contour-Enhanced Funnel Plot of 54 Studies Included



APPENDIX

Review of the Literature

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2019), there are different types of interventions to address the core symptoms of ASD which can be roughly grouped into the following categories: behavior and communication, medication, complementary and alternative medicine, and dietary approaches. Among these categories, the behavior and communication category is commonly addressed with parent-implemented interventions (PIIs). For the purpose of this thesis, only some of the subcategories within behavior and communication that had been used as PIIs will be addressed. This section will briefly review the following topics: interventions for individuals with ASD, the taxonomy of parent training (PT) for children with ASD, types of behaviors being addressed, and previous systematic reviews or meta-analyses related to PIIs.

Interventions for Individuals With Autism Spectrum Disorder

Scholars have organized common interventions for individuals with ASD in various ways. For example, some have organized interventions into early intervention types, and others organized interventions based on what is available in the market. There is no one way of categorizing interventions for ASD. We opted to focus on four dependent variables for child outcomes: positive behavior/social skills, maladaptive behavior, adaptive behavior/life skills, and language/communication. The following paragraphs will only address interventions targeting these dependent variables based on the characteristics of effective interventions published in *Educating Children with Autism* (National Research Council, 2001).

Positive Behavior or Social Skills

Individuals with ASD experience different degrees of social deficits. According to the DSM-V diagnostic criteria of ASD related to social communication and social interaction, people with ASD may have deficits in social-emotional reciprocity; nonverbal communicative behaviors used for social interaction; and developing, maintaining, and understanding relationships (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). For example, some individuals lack eye contact and joint attention and cannot understand play rules (Brodhead et al., 2017). No matter how divergent the social deficits are, some commonalities are found. In general, individuals with ASD have lower rates of initiations and responses in peer and social interactions, exhibit relatively fewer nonverbal gestures and facial expressions, are less observant of others' emotional displays, and demonstrate little imitations of others.

Interventions targeting social skills address the interaction between child and parents, child and adults, and child and child. These interventions have been categorized into five approaches: behaviorally-based programs, neo-behavioral approaches, interactive approaches, the Denver model, and Treatment and Education of Autistic and Related Communication Handicapped Children (TEACCH; Watson, 1991). The behaviorally-based programs (e.g., Princeton program; McClannahan & Krantz, 1997) teach social skills directly to children with ASD through utilizing the three-part contingency (antecedent-response-consequence). Neo-behavioral approaches (e.g., Learning Experiences, Alternative Program; Kohler et al., 1997; Strain et al., 1996) introduce naturalistic social interactions to children with ASD to promote peer interactions. The interactive approaches (e.g., Greenspan and Wieder's Developmental Intervention model; Greenspan et al., 1997) are child-oriented programs customized to the child's communicative and developmental competency. These approaches augment the quality

and quantity of social interactions between children with ASD and adults over time. The Denver model (Rogers et al., 2000) employs children-centered sensory, social exchanges to teach skills necessary to initiate social interactions in naturalistic social activities. Adults learn how to socially respond to the children through adult-directed interactions. Children learn imitation skills through direct teaching and social exchanges. TEACCH provides communication training in the context of group activities. Individuals with ASD learn how to follow the rules or instructions and to take turns while interacting with their peers.

Maladaptive Behaviors

Maladaptive behaviors in ASD include aggression, property destruction, uncooperative behaviors, self-injury, and withdrawal (Shattuck et al., 2006), among other behaviors. For example, some individuals engage in head-banging, throwing chairs across a classroom, screaming when working on math problems, and having tantrums. These maladaptive behaviors interfere with the life of people with ASD and others around them. They may promote social isolation from peers, prevent inclusion in school settings, and increase parental stress (Hall & Graff, 2012).

Applied behavior analysis (ABA) was previously called behavioral modification (Fishbein et al., 2017). ABA aims to improve child behaviors by identifying the contingencies that reinforce behavior change for individuals with ASD. ABA focuses on measuring observable behaviors and is tailored to meet individuals' needs in behavioral plan design. It is based on operant conditioning principles that focus on stimulus-response interactions (Sandbank et al., 2020). Preferred reinforcements of that individual are used to increase the target behavior's frequency based on reinforcement preference assessment. Skills selection is based on conclusive results from functional behavior assessment (FBA) or a combination of other assessments. ABA can be implemented in both highly controlled experimental conditions and natural settings. This approach provides rich empirical data to monitor an individual's progress, and generalization of skills taught in therapy sessions. Examples of ABA techniques are task analysis, positive reinforcement, prompting, and self-management. With the promotion of early intensive behavioral intervention (EIBI) for positive outcomes, many studies have indicated that the use of ABA supervised by board-certified behavioral analysts (BCBA) can be beneficial for children with ASD (Dunlap et al., 2008; Makrygianni et al., 2018; Mesibov & Howley, 2018; Peters-Scheffer et al., 2011; Reichow & Wolery, 2008; Virués-Ortega, 2010).

Adaptive Behaviors or Life Skills

Life skills and adaptive behaviors are crucial for day-to-day living and ways to fulfill individuals' social responsibilities. These skills are things that individuals do for life maintenance, addressing personal needs, and utilizing their living area (Turygin & Matson, 2014). Hygiene, community skills, housekeeping skills, safety-related behaviors, and schoolrelated skills fall under this category. For example, individuals engage in life skills when they take a bath, use an ATM, purchase items at a store, cross a busy street, or lock the door when leaving a house.

There is scant research explicitly on interventions that target adaptive behaviors or life skills. Reinforcer assessments were administered to the potency of potential reinforcers to foster skills instructions and acquisition in behavioral-based interventions. Operant conditioning procedures, aversive consequences, manuals for specific life skills (e.g., toilet training), peer tutoring, modeling, checklists, visual schedule, delayed contingency management, selfmanagement techniques, environmental arrangement, interaction with typically developing peers, pivotal response training, and task analysis have been used to address deficits in various aspects of adaptive behaviors or life skills.

Language or Communication

Communication impairments or language deficits exist in a range of severities in the context of ASD. Idiosyncratic patterns or characteristics of these impairments can be found in verbal and non-verbal communications. Examples of these difficulties include the perplexity of grasping non-verbal communication skills (e.g., body language, eye contact), scant conventional gestural use, unusual intonation, talking with loud volume, repetitive talk on a specific topic, difficulties in joint attention, echolalia, reversal of pronouns, intricacies in symbol use (e.g., inability to understand implicit meanings and nonliteral language, confusion over words with multiple meanings), limited written and verbal narratives, difficulty in comprehending the meaning of a context, and impairments in use of pragmatic language (Leekam, 2007). In short, most aspects, both receptive and expressive, can be impaired with children with ASD.

Interventions targeting communication and language include naturalistic teaching methods, developmental approaches, functional communication training, augmentative and alternative communication (AAC), assistive technology (AT), and facilitated communication (FC), among others. Naturalistic teaching methods promote language or communication outcomes of children with ASD through implementing child-oriented and systematic teaching trials. This approach focuses on the child's interests, which allows the child to initiate teaching episodes in a naturalistic environment. Natural reinforcers are used to enhancing the child's motivation to communicate. Developmental approaches organize the environment to provide occasions for communication. The communicative partner follows the lead of the child and is responsive while the child directs the interactions. Functional communication training is used as a replacement for maladaptive behaviors (Koegel et al., 1992). However, it also proliferates the core communication skills and communication initiation (both verbal and non-verbal). AAC incorporates a nonspeech symbol systems to assist children with ASD who have severe language or communication deficits. Examples of AAC include visual symbol systems (e.g., words and symbols), sign language, and voice output communication aids. AT involves a wide range of devices or services to assist children with ASD. AAC and computer-based instruction programs are some of the examples of AT. FC is used to support those who have intense communication impairments. The supports involve continued aid within the AAC model consisting of physical, emotional, and communicative components to elicit communicative initiations and responses. Although the literature reports using these interventions in treating language or communication impairment, not all the approaches have the same level of evidence to prove their efficacy in promoting outcomes in language or communication of children with ASD.

The Taxonomy of Parent Training (PT) for Autism Spectrum Disorder

Parent training may also be called parent education: PT is a broader concept than PIIs according to the classification of Bearss et al. (2015). Following this brief description of PT programs, the more specific concept of PIIs will be detailed in a subsequent section.

PT had been implemented since the 1960s to ameliorate disorder-specific skills deficiency, reduce problem behaviors, and boost parent involvement (Brookman-Frazee et al., 2009). PTs have been used to treat children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), anxiety, ASD, developmental disabilities, and disruptive behavior disorder (DBD). Through decades of research on PTs, many well-established structured programs were found (e.g., Barkley's Defiant Children; Barkley, 1987, The Incredible Years Parent Training Model; Borden et al., 2010, Triple P Positive Parenting Program; Sanders, 2003). PT emphasizes the involvement of parents or caregivers in the intervention process to yield direct and/or indirect benefits to children with ASD. In PT, the roles of parents or caregivers in the intervention process are critical. Typically, children in Northern America start formal schooling at around 5 or 6 years old. Before that, children spend most of their time with parents or caregivers. For children with ASD, early diagnosis and interventions are provided to help these children to catch up to the development of their typical peers.

Dawson et al. (2012) studied the efficacy of the Early Start Denver Model (ESDM; a developmental-behavioral intervention targets on toddlers) on 48 toddlers (18 – 30 months) who had been diagnosed with ASD. These toddlers were randomly assigned to receive ESDM or referral to community intervention (CI). Faces or objects were presented to these toddlers and their brain activity was measured. When compared to age-matched typical children, Dawson et al. (2012) found that normalization of brain activity is associated with early behavioral intervention. Toddlers who received the ESDM treatment had significant improvements in adaptive behavior, autism diagnosis, cortical activation, intelligence quotient (IQ), language, and social behavior than the CI group. They had comparable brain activity when comparing to age-matched typical peers. Faster neural response was noted when viewing faces than objects for the ESDM group, while the CI group had the opposite outcomes.

Other evidence suggests that the type and amount of parent interactions the children with ASD experience will impact their development of social and language skills (Patterson et al., 2012; Siller & Sigman, 2002). Patterson et al. (2012) reported that an "increase in child communication and social outcomes as parents demonstrate an increase in their abilities, emphasizing the reflexive role that parents and children can play in each other's development"

(p. 516). Thus, parent involvement in the early stage of intervention for children with ASD can make a difference for these individuals.

According to Bearss et al. (2015), PT can be categorized into parent support and parent implementation. The classification of PT can be based on the format, duration, intensity, location, and target group.

Parent Support

PT with the focus of parent support is knowledge oriented. Parents receive support and increase their knowledge of ASD from this type of PT. The child obtains benefits indirectly from a parent support program. Parent support can be further broken down into care coordination and psychoeducation.

Care Coordination. The complexities of the system of care often intimidate parents with children with ASD. When looking for appropriate services and resources, these parents need to consider funding availability or eligibility, the collaboration of service providers, cost, time, travel, etc. These barriers may sometimes impede the continuity of services for individuals with ASD because it seems there is no single-entry point into the multiple service systems. Therefore, care coordination is central to guiding these parents on the lifelong care pathway for their children.

McDonald et al. (2007) defined care coordination as

the deliberate organization of patient care activities between two or more participants (including the patient) involved in a patient's care to facilitate the appropriate delivery of health care services. Organization care involves the marshalling of personnel and other resources needed to carry out all required patient care activities, and is often managed by the exchange of information among participants responsible for different aspects of care. (p. 41)

The core elements of care coordination include involvement of multiple participants, interdependence among participants and activities, aid for appropriate healthcare delivery, exchange of information, and knowledge of resources statute and roles of others (Schultz & McDonald, 2014). Some examples of service types involved are medical, academic, and behavioral support. Social workers or case managers usually deliver this type of program in a brief consultative style. This type of service may also be provided by local or state agencies. An example of care coordination programs is Comprehensive Medical Care for Autism Spectrum Disorders (Parellada et al., 2013). Care coordination can enhance the health condition of children with ASD (Homer et al., 2008) and may minimize medical care expenditures (Kogan et al., 2008).

Psychoeducation. The lack of quality information about ASD is one of the obstacles for parents who want to take better care of their children with ASD. Psychoeducation is "a systematic and didactic approach to informing patients, and their relatives, about their illness and its treatment, thereby promoting understanding and personal management of the illness" (Dahl et al., 2020, p. 258). It provides up-to-date ASD information to parents which have these benefits: enabling parents to be able to advocate for their children, altering their expectations of their children's future, providing intervention guidance, preparing for children's transition to new stages throughout the lifetime, lessening parental stress, and alleviating the sense of isolation (Bearss et al., 2015).

Psychoeducation is usually a short-term program that can be found in individual or group sessions. Structured psychoeducation programs are delivered by professionals such as social

workers, psychologists, case managers, or psychiatric nurse practitioners. Self-guided psychoeducational materials are available in multiple sources Examples include Autism Speaks Early Childcare Provider's Guide to Managing Challenging Behaviors

(https://www.autismspeaks.org/tool-kit/early-childcare-providers-guide-managing-challengingbehaviors), and A Practical Guide to Autism: What Every Parent, Family Member, and Teacher Needs to Know (Volkmar & Weisner, 2009).

Parent-Implemented Interventions (PIIs)

PIIs mean using parents as the intervention mediator which can be primary, complementary, or hybrid (combination of primary & complementary) programs (Bearss et al., 2015). Indeed, Dawson-Squibb reported that many PIIs are using the hybrid model (2020). Children with ASD directly benefit from PIIs because PIIs are techniques-oriented training that permits parents to be the agent of change. Parents actively engage from the beginning of the intervention to promote their children's skills acquisition (Kasari et al., 2014) and tapering off the problem behaviors (Bearss et al., 2013). Therapists partially or primarily participate in the treatment process in complementary programs. Therapists coach parents to apply skills learned in settings outside of clinical settings or for skills retention (Bearss et al., 2015). Some examples are the Early Start Denver Model (ESDM; Dawson et al., 2010; Rogers et al., 2012), and Marcus Autism Center Feeding Program (Sharp et al., 2011). PIIs can be further categorized into PIIs for core symptoms and PIIs for maladaptive behaviors.

Parent-Implemented Interventions for Core Symptoms. Core ASD symptoms encompass deficits in areas related to behaviors and communication. Interventions can be conducted at home and in various community settings that enable skills acquisition in naturalistic environments (Bearss et al., 2015). Numbers of the session, frequency, formats (primary or complementary) and duration of this type of PIIs vary. Both structured PIIs and self-guided materials are available. Examples include Teaching Social Communication to Children with Autism: A Manual for Parents (Ingersoll & Dvortcsak, 2009), Joint Attention Symbolic Play Engagement and Regulation (JASPER; Kasari et al., 2014), and ESDM (Dawson et al., 2010).

Parent-Implemented Interventions for Maladaptive Behaviors. Maladaptive behaviors of ASD include disruptive behaviors (e.g., property destruction, noncompliance, tantrums, self-injury, aggression, and hyperactivity), sleep disturbance, elopement, toileting problems, and focal concerns like the refusal of food (Bearss et al., 2015). Some side effects of these maladaptive behaviors are intensifying parental stress and isolation from peers (Bearss et al., 2015).

Since this type of PT focuses on behavioral modification of maladaptive behaviors, ABA principles are heavily involved. Some features of ABA-guided PT are observation, data collection, antecedent or consequence manipulation. Trained behavioral therapists will mostly deliver interventions. The therapists will coach in either therapist-child or parent-dyad styles. Both structured PIIs and self-guided materials are available. The design of programs is highly individualized to tackle a specific problem. PIIs for maladaptive behaviors varies in duration, intensity, and degree of parent involvement (primary or complementary). Examples include The Research Units in Pediatric Psychopharmacology (RUPP) Autism Network parent training program (Aman et al., 2009; Scahill et al., 2012), Marcus Autism Center Feeding Program (Sharp et al., 2011), and *Toilet Training in Children with Severe Handicaps* (Dunlap et al., 1984).

Previous Systematic Reviews or Meta-Analyses Related to Parent-Implemented Interventions

Several previous meta-analyses have been conducted on the effectiveness of PIIs. These have tended to find the beneficial effects of PIIs; however, they all have varied inclusion and exclusion criteria. Each of them is described in the following paragraphs. Since this metaanalysis is an update of the Dyches et al. review published in 2018, with a focus on ASD, this review is addressed first.

Dyches et al. (2018)

Dyches et al. (2018) included 30 studies with a total of 1356 participants who have developmental disabilities-including ASD-in their meta-analysis. This review focused on the interconnection of PIIs and outcomes that are intended to be improved through PIIs (adaptive behaviors, communication skills, and social behaviors). The authors screened both published and unpublished manuscripts from 1990 to 2011 in 6 databases. Overall, the child outcomes of the parent-implemented intervention group were relatively higher than the control group. PIIs that targeted communication skills resulted in the amplest gain than PIIs targeting adaptive behaviors and social behaviors. A significant mixed effect of PIIs on outcomes for children with developmental disabilities was identified.

Black & Therrien (2018)

Black and Therrien (2018) identified 15 studies published between 1987 to 2016 from the search of two databases. This systematic review included a total of 622 children from 6 to 17 years of age who were all diagnosed with ASD. There are two intervention types: cognitive behavioral therapy and social skills training programs. Due to the relatively small sample size and the effects of the intervention confounded by other variables, Black and Therrien could not

estimate the effects of these two types of PIIs, respectively. However, the overall effects of PIIs were positive and moderate in strength.

Nevill et al. (2016)

Nevill et al. (2016) conducted a meta-analysis of 19 articles published between 2000 and 2015 of PT for children with ASD between 1 to 6 years of age. Evidence indicated that there were moderate effects for ASD symptom severity, cognition, and communication, and a very low effect for socialization. There was no significant difference based on the dose of treatment and type of control group. Treatment effects were significant when only based on parent report for communication and not for socialization. However, clinicians reported the opposite results than parents. Overall, the effects of PIIs were found to be small.

Postorino et al. (2017)

This is a systematic review and meta-analysis of 8 studies published between 1980 to 2016 for PIIs of disruptive behavior in 653 children with ASD ages from 2 to 14. Postorino et al. (2017) searched articles in three databases, and only peer-reviewed articles with randomized controlled trials (RCT) were chosen. A medium effect of PIIs on reducing disruptive behavior in individuals with ASD was found. The authors concluded that effective PIIs should last for at least 16 to 24 weeks with 10 to 12 sessions. These duration and treatment doses ensure parents have enough time to practice learned skills and receive profitable feedback from therapists.

Tarver et al. (2019)

A systematic review and meta-analysis were conducted to evaluate the parent and child outcomes of PT for children with ASD with behavioral and emotional problems. A total of 521 participants from 2- to 14-years-old with ASD were included from nine studies published between 2009 to 2015. Tarver et al. (2019) searched journals in three databases and only included RCTs published in peer-reviewed journals. Positive effects were found in child disruptive behavior, hyperactivity, and parent stress based on parent reports. Effects on parent efficacy, internalizing behavior in ASD, parenting behaviors, observational and teacher outcomes were undetermined due to insufficient data.

Prior meta-analyses have been characterized by heterogeneous findings, often attributable to multiple studies having small sample sizes. In addition, most of the prior meta-analyses did not use comprehensive search terms, such that they obtained limited numbers of studies. Others included only published articles, which may have biased findings toward the direction of statistical significance. Furthermore, many reports did not compare results from other sources other than parents, another potential source of bias. And several had not compared findings across the type of control groups used in studies. Therefore, this thesis proposes an updated meta-analytic review of RCTs of PIIs with comprehensive search terms and an extensive manuscript search to obtain up-to-date research findings that go beyond prior meta-analyses. Published and unpublished studies were considered to obtain the most representative sample of data possible. Lastly, this thesis examines possible differences in the source of data and across the type of control group used in studies. Thus, it is necessary to conduct an up-to-date meta-analytic review that goes beyond previous meta-analyses and systematic reviews.
References

- Aman, M. G., Mcdougle, C. J., Scahill, L., Handen, B., Arnold, L. E., Johnson, C., Stigler, K. A., Bearss, K., Butter, E., Swiezy, N. B., Sukhodolsky, D. D., Ramadan, Y., Pozdol, S. L., Nikolov, R., Lecavalier, L., Kohn, A. E., Koening, K., Hollway, J. A., Korzekwa, P., ... & Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology Autism Network. (2009).
 Medication and parent training in children with pervasive developmental disorders and serious behavior problems: Results from a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *48*(12), 1143-1154.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/chi.0b013e3181bfd669
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596</u>
- Autism Speaks. (n.d.). *Early childcare provider's guide to managing challenging behaviors*. <u>https://www.autismspeaks.org/tool-kit/early-childcare-providers-guide-managing-challenging-behaviors</u>
- Barkley, R. A. (1987). Defiant children. Guilford Press.
- Bearss, K., Burrell, T. L., Stewart, L., & Scahill, L. (2015). Parent training in autism spectrum disorder: What's in a name?. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 18(2), 170-182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-015-0179-5</u>

Bearss, K., Johnson, C., Handen, B., Smith, T., & Scahill, L. (2013). A pilot study of parent training in young children with autism spectrum disorders and disruptive behavior. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(4), 829-840.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1624-7

- Black, M. E., & Therrien, W. J. (2018). Parent training programs for school-age children with autism: A systematic review. *Remedial and Special Education*, 39(4), 243–256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932517730645</u>
- Borden, L. A., Schultz, T. R., Herman, K. C., & Brooks, C. M. (2010). The incredible years parent training program: Promoting resilience through evidence-based prevention groups. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice*, *14*(3), 230–241. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020322
- Brodhead M. T., Rispoli M. J., Wendt O., Akers J. S., Gerencser K. R., Kim S. Y. (2017)
 Treatment of core symptoms of autism spectrum disorder. In J. Matson (Ed.), *Handbook* of treatments for autism spectrum disorder (pp. 127–144). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61738-1_9
- Brookman-Frazee, L., Vismara, L., Drahota, A., Stahmer, A., & Openden, D. (2009). Parent training interventions for children with autism spectrum disorders. In J. Matson (Ed.), *Applied behavior analysis for children with autism spectrum disorders* (pp. 237–257).
 Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-0088-3_14</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019, September 23). *Treatment and intervention services for autism spectrum disorder*.

https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/autism/treatment.html

Dahl, V., Ramakrishnan, A., Spears, A. P., Jorge, A., Lu, J., Bigio, N. A., & Chacko, A. (2020).
 Psychoeducation interventions for parents and teachers of children and adolescents with
 ADHD: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities*, 32(2), 257–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10882-019-09691-3</u>

- Dawson, G., Jones, E. J., Merkle, K., Venema, K., Lowy, R., Faja, S., Kamara, D., Murias, M., Greenson, J., Winter, J., Smith, M., Rogers, S. J., & Webb, S. J. (2012). Early behavioral intervention is associated with normalized brain activity in young children with autism. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(11), 1150–1159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2012.08.018</u>
- Dawson, G., Rogers, S., Munson, J., Smith, M., Winter, J., Greenson, J., Donaldson, A., & Varley, J. (2010). Randomized, controlled trial of an intervention for toddlers with autism: The Early Start Denver Model. *Pediatrics*, 125(1), e17–e23. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2009-0958
- Dawson-Squibb, J. -J., Davids, E. L., Harrison, A. J., Molony, M. A., & de Vries, P. J. (2020).
 Parent education and training for autism spectrum disorders: Scopping the evidence.
 Autism, 24(1), 7–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319841739</u>
- Dunlap, G., Iovannone, R., & Kincaid, D. (2008). Essential components for effective autism educational programs. In J. K. Kuiselli, D. C. Russo, W. P. Christian, & S. M. Wilczynski (Eds.), *Effective practices for children with autism: Educational and behavior support interventions that work* (pp. 111–136). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/med:psych/9780195317046.003.0006
- Dunlap, G., Koegel, R., & Koegel, L. (1984). Toilet training for children with severe handicaps. Autism Training Center, Marshall University.
 https://www.marshall.edu/atc/files/Toilet-Training-for-Children-with-Severe-Handicaps.pdf

- Dyches, T. T., Smith, T. B., Korth, B. B., & Mandleco, B. (2018). Effects of parent-implemented interventions on outcomes for children with developmental disabilities: A meta-analysis. *Perspectives on Early Childhood Psychology and Education*, 3(1), 137–168.
- Fishbein L. B., Rouse M. L., Minshawi N. F., Fodstad J. C. (2017) Historical development of treatment. In J. Matson (Ed.), *Handbook of treatments for autism spectrum disorder* (pp. 1–15). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61738-1_1</u>
- Greenspan, S. I., Kalmanson, B., Wieder, S., & Shahmoon-Shanok, R. (1997). Assessing and treating infants and young children with severe difficulties in relating and communicating. Zero to Three.
- Hall, H. R., & Graff, J. C. (2012). Maladaptive behaviors of children with autism: Parent support, stress, and coping. *Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing*, 35(3–4), 194–214. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/01460862.2012.734210</u>
- Homer, C. J., Klatka, K., Romm, D., Kuhlthau, K., Bloom, S., Newacheck, P., van Cleave, J. & Perrin, J. M. (2008). A review of the evidence for the medical home for children with special health care needs. *Pediatrics*, 122(4), e922–e937.

https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2007-3762

- Ingersoll, B., & Dvortcsak, A. (2009). *Teaching social communication to children with autism: A practitioner's guide to parent training and a manual for parents*. Guilford Press.
- Kasari, C., Lawton, K., Shih, W., Barker, T. V., Landa, R., Lord, C., Orlich, F., King, B.,
 Wetherby, A. & Senturk, D. (2014). Caregiver-mediated intervention for low-resourced preschoolers with autism: An RCT. *Pediatrics*, *134*(1), e72–e79.
 https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-3229

- Koegel, R. L., Koegel, L. K., & Surratt, A. (1992). Language intervention and disruptive behavior in preschool children with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 22(2), 141–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01058147</u>
- Kogan, M. D., Strickland, B. B., Blumberg, S. J., Singh, G. K., Perrin, J. M., & van Dyck, P. C. (2008). A national profile of the health care experiences and family impact of autism spectrum disorder among children in the United States, 2005–2006. *Pediatrics*, *122*(6), e1149–e1158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-1057</u>
- Kohler, F. W., Strain, P. S., Hoyson, M., & Jamieson, B. (1997). Merging naturalistic teaching and peer-based strategies to address the IEP objectives of preschoolers with autism. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, *12*(4), 196–206. https://doi.org/10.1177/108835769701200402
- Leekam, S. R. (2007). Language comprehension difficulties in children with autism spectrum disorders. In K. Cain, & J. Oakhill (Eds.), *Children's comprehension problems in oral* and written language: A cognitive perspective (pp. 104–127). Guilford Press.
- Makrygianni, M. K., Gena, A., Katoudi, S., & Galanis, P. (2018). The effectiveness of applied behavior analytic interventions for children with autism spectrum disorder: A meta-analytic study. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *51*, 18–31.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2018.03.006
- McClannahan, L. E., & Krantz, P. J. (1997). Princeton child development institute. *Behavior and Social Issues*, 7(1), 65–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.5210/bsi.v7i1.301</u>

McDonald, K. M., Sundaram, V., Bravata, D. M., Lewis, R., Lin, N., Kraft, S. A., McKinnon,
M., Paguntalan, H., & Owens, D. K. (2007). *Closing the quality gap: A critical analysis* of quality improvement strategies (Vol. 7: Care Coordination). Stanford University of California San Francisco Evidence-Based Practice Center.
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK44015/

Mesibov, G., & Howley, M. (2018). Accessing the curriculum for pupils with autistic spectrum disorders using the TEACCH programme to help inclusion. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315097664

- National Research Council. (2001). *Educating children with autism*. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/10017
- Nevill, R. E., Lecavalier, L., & Stratis, E. A. (2016). Meta-analysis of parent-mediated interventions for young children with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism*, 22(2), 84–98. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361316677838
- Parellada, M., Boada, L., Moreno, C., Llorente, C., Romo, J., Muela, C., & Arango, C. (2013). Specialty care programme for autism spectrum disorders in an urban population: A casemanagement model for health care delivery in an ASD population. *European Psychiatry*, 28(2), 102–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2011.06.004
- Patterson, S. Y., Smith, V., & Mirenda, P. (2012). A systematic review of training programs for parents of children with autism spectrum disorders: Single subject contributions. *Autism*, 16(5), 498–522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361311413398</u>

- Peters-Scheffer, N., Didden, R., Korzilius, H., & Sturmey, P. (2011). A meta-analytic study on the effectiveness of comprehensive ABA-based early intervention programs for children with autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5(1), 60–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2010.03.011
- Postorino, V., Sharp, W. G., McCracken, C. E., Bearss, K., Burrell, T. L., Evans, A. N., & Scahill, L. (2017). A systematic review and meta-analysis of parent training for disruptive behavior in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 20(4), 391–402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-017-0237-2</u>
- Reichow, B., & Wolery, M. (2008). Comprehensive synthesis of early intensive behavioral interventions for young children with autism based on the UCLA young autism project model. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 39*(1), 23–41.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-008-0596-0
- Rogers, S. J., Estes, A., Lord, C., Vismara, L., Winter, J., Fitzpatrick, A., ... & Dawson, G. (2012). Effects of a brief Early Start Denver Model (ESDM)–based parent intervention on toddlers at risk for autism spectrum disorders: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(10), 1052–1065. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2012.08.003
- Rogers, S. J., Hall, T., Osaki, D., Reaven, J., & Herbison, J. (2000). The Denver model: A comprehensive, integrated educational approach to young children with autism and their families. In J. S. Handleman & S. L. Harris (Eds.), *Preschool education programs for children with autism* (2nd ed., pp. 95–133). Pro-Ed.

- Sandbank, M., Bottema-Beutel, K., Crowley, S., Cassidy, M., Dunham, K., Feldman, J. I.,
 Crank, J., Albarran, S. A., Raj, S., Mahbub, P., & Woynaroski, T. G. (2020). Project
 AIM: Autism intervention meta-analysis for studies of young children. *Psychological Bulletin*, 146(1), 1–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000215</u>
- Sanders, M. R. (2003). Triple P positive parenting program: A population approach to promoting competent parenting. *Australian e-Journal for the Advancement of Mental Health*, 2(3), 127–143. https://doi.org/10.5172/jamh.2.3.127
- Scahill, L., McDougle, C. J., Aman, M. G., Johnson, C., Handen, B., Bearss, K., Dziura, J.,
 Butter, E., Swiezy, N. G., Arnold, L. E., Stigler, K. A., Sukhodolsky, D. D., Lecavalier,
 L., Pozdol, S. L., Nikolov, R., Hollway, J. A., Korzekwa, P., Gavaletz, A., Kohn, A. E.,
 ... & Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology Autism Network (2012). Effects
 of risperidone and parent training on adaptive functioning in children with pervasive
 developmental disorders and serious behavioral problems. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *51*(2), 136–146.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2011.11.010

- Schultz, E. M., & Mcdonald, K. M. (2014). What is care coordination? *International Journal of Care Coordination*, *17*(1-2), 5–24. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053435414540615
- Sharp, W. G., Jaquess, D. L., Morton, J. F., & Miles, A. G. (2011). A retrospective chart review of dietary diversity and feeding behavior of children with autism spectrum disorder before and after admission to a day-treatment program. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 26(1), 37–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1088357609349245</u>

- Shattuck, P. T., Seltzer, M. M., Greenberg, J. S., Orsmond, G. I., Bolt, D., Kring, S., Lounds, J.,
 & Lord, C. (2006). Change in autism symptoms and maladaptive behaviors in adolescents and adults with an autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37(9), 1735–1747. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-006-0307-7
- Siller, M., & Sigman, M. (2002). The behaviors of parents of children with autism predict the subsequent development of their children's communication. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 32(2), 77–89. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1014884404276
- Strain, P. S., Kohler, F. W., & Goldstein, H. (1996). Learning experiences ... an alternative program: Peer-mediated interventions for young children with autism. In E. D. Hibbs & P. S. Jensen (Eds.), *Psychosocial treatments for child and adolescent disorders: Empirically based strategies for clinical practice* (pp. 573–586). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/10196-022
- Tarver, J., Palmer, M., Webb, S., Scott, S., Slonims, V., Simonoff, E., & Charman, T. (2019).
 Child and parent outcomes following parent interventions for child emotional and behavioral problems in autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Autism*, 23(7), 1630–1644. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319830042</u>
- Turygin, N. C., & Matson, J. L. (2014). Adaptive behavior, life skills, and leisure skills training for adolescents and adults with autism spectrum disorders. In F. R. Volkmar, B. Reichow, & J. C. McPartland (Eds.), *Adolescents and adults with autism spectrum disorders* (pp. 131–160). Springer Science + Business Media. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-0506-58</u>

 Virués-Ortega, J. (2010). Applied behavior analytic intervention for autism in early childhood: Meta-analysis, meta-regression and dose-response meta-analysis of multiple outcomes. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 30(4), 387–399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.01.008</u>

- Volkmar, F. R., & Wiesner, L. A. (2009). A practical guide to autism: What every parent, family member, and teacher needs to know. John Wiley & Sons.
- Watson, L. R. (1991). *Teaching spontaneous communication to autistic and developmentally handicapped children*. Pro-Ed.